UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
BEFORE THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE

In re:
Robe rt B. M cCloy, Jr.,
Respondent

)
)
)
)
)

HPA Docket No. 99-0020

Decision and Order

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Craig A. Reed, Administrator, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, United
States Departmen t of Agriculture [hereinaf ter Complainant], instituted this disciplinary
administrative proceeding by filing a Complaint on May 4, 1999. Complainant
instituted the proceeding under the Horse Protection Act of 1970, as amended (15 U.S.C.
§§ 1821-1831) [hereinafter the Horse Protection Act]; and the Rules of Practice
Governing Formal Adjudicatory Proceedings Instituted by the Secretary Under Various
Statutes (7 C.F.R. §§ 1.13 0-.151) [hereinafter the R ules of Practice].
Complainant alleges that on September 4, 1998, Robert B. McCloy, Jr. [hereinafter
Responden t], allowed the entry of a horse kno wn as Ebony Threat s Ms. Professor
[hereinafter Missy] for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy as entry number 654
in class num ber 121 a t the 60th A nnual Te nnessee W alking Ho rse Nation al Celebratio n in
Shelbyville, Tennessee, while Missy was sore, in violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
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Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) (Compl. ¶ 3). On June 1, 1999, Respondent
filed Respondent s Original Answer [hereinafter Answer]. Respondent admits he was
the owner of Missy during all times material to this proceeding but denies he allowed the
entry of Mis sy for the purp ose of sho wing or e xhibiting M issy as entry numb er 654 in
class num ber 121 a t the 60th A nnual Te nnessee W alking Ho rse Nation al Celebratio n in
Shelbyville, Tennessee, while Missy was sore, in violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U .S.C. § 1824(2)(D )) (Answer ¶¶ 2 -4).
Admin istrative Law Judge D orothea A . Baker [h ereinafter the ALJ] pre sided at a
hearing in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, on August 22, 2000. Colleen A. Carroll, Office of
the General Counsel, United States Department of Agriculture, appeared on behalf of
Comp lainant. Resp ondent ap peared pro se. Allison A . Lafferty assisted Respon dent.
On January 3, 2001, Complainant filed Complainant s Proposed Findings of Fact
and Conclusion s of Law; and Memoran dum of Poin ts and Authorities in Sup port
Thereof [hereinafter Complainant s Post-Hearing Brief]. On April 12, 2001,
Respondent filed Respondent s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law; and
Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support Thereof. On July 5, 2001,
Com plainan t filed Com plainan t s Reply B rief.
On August 10, 2001, the ALJ issued a Decision and Order [hereinafter Initial
Decision and Order] in which the ALJ concluded Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of

3
the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), as alleged in the Complaint, and
assessed Respon dent a $2,200 civil pena lty (Initial Decision and Order at 13-14 ).
On November 19, 2001, Complainant appealed to the Judicial Officer. On
February 5, 2002, Respondent filed Respondent s Petition for Appeal of Decision and
Order and Answer to the Complainant s Petition for Appeal.

On February 25, 2002,

Complainant filed Complainant s Response to Respondent s Appeal of Decision and
Order.

On February 26, 2002, the Hearing Clerk transmitted the record of the

proceeding to the Judicial Officer for consideration and decision.
Based upon a careful consideration of the record, I agree with most of the ALJ s
findings of fact, the ALJ s conclusion that Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of the
Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), and the ALJ s assessment of a $2,200
civil penalty against Respondent. However, I also disqualify Respondent for a period of
1 year from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse and from managing, judging, or
otherw ise partic ipating i n any ho rse sho w, hor se exhi bition, h orse sale , or hors e auctio n.
Moreo ver, I disagree with portion s of the A LJ s discussion . Therefo re, while I reta in
portions of the ALJ s Initial Decision and Order, I do not adopt the Initial Decision and
Order as the final D ecision and Orde r.
Complainant s exhibits are designated by CX.
design ated by RX.

Responden t s exhibits are

Transc ript refe rences are des ignated by Tr.
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APPLICABLE STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS
15 U.S .C.:
TITLE 15

COMMERCE AND TRADE

....
CHAPTER 44

PROTECTION OF HORSES

§ 1821. Definitions
As used in this chapter unless the context otherwise requires:
....
(3)
The term sore when used to describe a horse means
that
(A) an irritating or blistering agent has been applied,
internally or externally, by a person to any limb of a horse,
(B) a ny burn, cu t, or la cera tion has b een i nflic ted b y a
person on any limb of a horse,
(C) any tack, nail, screw, or chemical agent has been
injected by a person into or used by a person on any limb of a
horse, or
(D) a ny oth er su bstance o r dev ice h as be en used b y a
person on any limb of a horse or a person has engaged in a
practice involving a horse,
and, as a result of such application, infliction, injection, use, or
practice, such horse suffe rs, or can reasonably be expec ted to suffer,
physical pain or distress, inflammation, or lameness when walking,
trotting, or otherwise moving, except that such term does not include
such an a pplication, inf liction, injection, u se, or practice in
connection with the therapeutic treatment of a horse by or under the
supervision of a perso n licensed to practice vete rinary medicin e in
the State in which such treatment was given.
§ 1822. Congressional statement of findings
The Co ngress find s and dec lares that
(1) the soring of horses is cruel and inhumane;
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(2) horses shown or exhibited which are sore, where such
soreness im proves the perform ance of su ch horse, co mpete un fairly
with horses which are not sore;
(3) the movement, showing, exhibition, or sale of sore horses
in intrastate commerce adversely affects and burdens interstate and
foreign commerce;
(4) all horses w hich are sub ject to regulatio n under th is
chapter are either in interstate or foreign comme rce or substa ntially
affect such commerce; and
(5) regulation under this c hapter by the S ecretary is
appropriate to prevent a nd elimina te burdens upon co mmerce and to
effectively regulate commerce.
§ 1823. Horse shows and exhibitions
(a)

Disqualification of horses

The ma nageme nt of any hors e show o r horse exh ibition shall
disqualify any horse from being shown or exhibited (1) which is sore or (2)
if the management has been notified by a person appointed in accordance
with regulations under subsection (c) of this section or by the Secretary that
the horse is sore.
....
(c)

Appointment of inspectors; manner of inspections

The Secretary shall prescribe by regulation requirements for the
appointment by the management of any horse show, horse exhibition, or
horse sale or auction of persons qualified to detect and diagnose a horse
which is sore or to otherwise inspect horses for the purposes of enforcing
this chapter. Such requirements shall prohibit the appointment of persons
who, after notice and opportunity for a hearing, have been disqualified by
the Sec retary to m ake suc h detec tion, diag nosis, o r inspec tion.
Appointment of a person in accordance with the requirements prescribed
under this su bsection sh all not be co nstrued as a uthorizing s uch perso n to
conduct inspections in a manner other than that prescribed for inspections
by the Secretary (or the Secretary s representative) under subsection (e) of
this section.
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§ 1824. Unla wful acts
The following conduct is prohibited:
....
(2) The (A) showing or exhibiting, in any horse show or
horse exhibition, of any horse which is sore, (B) entering for the
purpose of showing or exhibiting in any horse show or horse
exhibition, any horse which is sore, (C) selling, auctioning, or
offering f or sale, in any ho rse sale or au ction, any horse which is
sore, and (D) allowing any activity described in clause (A), (B), or
(C) respecting a horse which is sore by the owner of such horse.
§ 1825. Violations and penalties
....
(b)

Civil penalties; review and enforcement

(1) Any pers on who violates sectio n 1824 o f this title shall be liab le
to the United States for a civil penalty of not more than $2,000 for each
violation. No penalty shall be assessed unless such person is given notice
and opportunity for a hearing before the Secretary with respect to such
violation. The amount of such civil penalty shall be assessed by the
Secretary by written order. In determining the amount of such penalty, the
Secretary shall take into account all factors relevant to such determination,
including the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the prohibited
conduct and, with respect to the person found to have engaged in such
conduct, th e degree o f culpability, any histo ry of prior off enses, ability to
pay, effect on ability to continue to do business, and such other matters as
justice may require.
(2) Any pers on agains t whom a violation is f ound an d a civil pen alty
assessed under paragraph (1) of this subsection may obtain review in the
court of appeals of the United States for the circuit in which such person
resides or ha s his place o f business o r in the Un ited States C ourt of A ppeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit by filing a notice of appeal in such
court within 30 days from the date of such orde r and by simu ltaneously
sending a copy of such notice by certified mail to the Secretary. The
Secretary shall promptly file in such court a certified co py of the record
upon which such violation was found and such penalty assessed, as
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provided in section 2112 of title 28. The findings of the Secretary shall be
set aside if found to be unsupported by substantial evidence.
....
(c)

Disqualification of offenders; orders; civil penalties applicable;
enforcement procedures

In addition to any fine, imprisonment, or civil penalty authorized
under this section, any person who was convicted under subsection (a) of
this section or who pa id a civil pena lty assessed und er subsectio n (b) of this
section or is su bject to a fina l order und er such sub section asse ssing a civil
penalty for any violation of any provision of this chapter or any regulation
issued under this chapter may be disqualified by order of the Secretary, after
notice and an opportunity for a hearing before the Secretary, from showing
or exhibiting any horse, judging or managing any horse show, horse
exhibition, or horse sale or auction for a period of not less than one year for
the first v iolation and no t less than five year s for an y subseq uent vio lation.
Any person who kn owingly fails to obey an ord er of disqu alification sha ll
be sub ject to a c ivil pena lty of not m ore than $3,000 for eac h violati on.
Any horse show, horse exhibition, or horse sale or auction, or the
management thereof, collectively and severally, which knowingly allows
any person who is under an order of disqualification to show or exhibit any
horse, to enter for the purpose of showing or exhibiting any horse, to take
part in managing or judging, or otherwise to participate in any horse show,
horse exhibition, or horse sale or auction in violation of an order shall be
subject to a civil penalty of not more than $3,000 for each violation. The
provisions o f subsectio n (b) of this se ction respec ting the asses sment,
review, co llection, and c omprom ise, modifica tion, and rem ission of a c ivil
penalty apply with respect to civil penalties under this subsection.
(d)

Production of witnesses and bo oks, papers, and documents;
depositions; fees; presumptions; jurisdiction

....
(5) In any civil or criminal action to enforce this chapter or any
regulation under this chapter a horse shall be presumed to be a horse which
is sore if it man ifests abno rmal sensitivity or in flamma tion in both o f its
forelimbs or both of its hindlimbs.
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§ 1828. Rules and regulations
The Secretary is authorized to issue such rules and regulations as he
deems necessary to carry out the prov isions of this chapter.
15 U.S.C. §§ 1821(3), 1822, 1823(a), (c), 1824(2), 1825(b)(1)-(2), (c), (d)(5), 1828.
28 U.S .C.:
TITLE 28

JUDICIARY AND JUDICIAL PROCEDURE

....
PART VI

PARTICULAR PROCEEDINGS

....
CHAPTER 163

FINES, PENALTIES AND FORFEITURES

§ 2461. Mode of recovery
....
F EDERAL C IVIL P ENALTIES INFLATION A DJUSTMENT
SHORT T ITLE

S ECTION 1. This Act may be cited as the Federal Civil Penalties
Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990
FINDINGS AND PURPOSE

S EC. 2. (a) F INDINGS. The Co ngress find s that
(1) the power of F ederal agencies to impo se civil monetary
penalties for violations of Federal law and regulations plays an
important ro le in deterring violations an d furthering the policy goa ls
embodied in such laws and regulations;
(2) the impact of many civil monetary penalties has been and
is diminished due to the effect of inflation;
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(3) by reducing the impact of civil monetary penalties,
inflation has weakened the deterrent effect of such penalties; and
(4) the Fed eral Gov ernment d oes not m aintain
comprehensive, detailed accounting of the efforts of Federal
agencies to assess and collect civil monetary penalties.
(b) P URPOSE The purpose of this Act is to establish a mechanism
that shall
(1) allow f or regular ad justment fo r inflation of civil
monetary penalties;
(2) maintain the deterrent effect of civil monetary penalties
and promote compliance with the law; and
(3) improv e the collectio n by the Fede ral Gove rnment of civil
monetary penalties.
DEFINITIONS

S EC. 3. For purposes of this Act, the term
(1) agency means an Executive agency as defined under
section 105 of title 5, United States Code, and includes the United
States Postal Service;
(2) civil monetary penalty means any penalty, fine, or other
sanction tha t
(A)(i) is for a specific monetary amount as provided
by Federal law; or
(ii) has a maximum amount provided for by Federal
law; and
(B) is assesse d or enfo rced by an ag ency pursua nt to
Federal law; and
(C) is assessed or enforced pursuant to an
administrative proceeding or a civil action in the Federal
courts; and
(3) Consumer Price Index means the Consumer Price Index
for all-urban consum ers published by the Dep artment of Labo r.
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY INFLATION
ADJUSTMENT REPORTS

S EC. 4. The head of each agency shall, not later than 180 days after
the date of enactment of the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996
[Apr. 26, 1996], an d at least once every 4 years thereafter
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(1) by regulation adjust each civil monetary penalty provided
by law within the jurisdiction of the Federal agency, except for any
penalty (including any addition to tax and additional amount) under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 [26 U.S.C. 1 et seq.], the Tariff
Act of 1930 [19 U.S.C. 1202 et seq.], the Occupational Safety and
Health A ct of 1970 [20 U.S .C. 651 et se q.], or the Soc ial Security
Act [42 U.S.C. 301 et seq.], by the inflation adjustment described
under section 5 of this Act [bracketed material in original]; and
(2) publish each such regulation in the Federal R egister.
COST- OF- LIVING ADJ USTMEN TS OF CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTIES

S EC. 5. (a) A DJUSTMENT. The inflation adjustment under section 4
shall be determined by increasing the maximum civil monetary penalty or
the range of minimum and maximum civil monetary penalties, as
applica ble, for e ach civ il mone tary pena lty by the cos t-of-livin g adjus tment.
Any increase determined under this subsection shall be rounded to the
nearest
(1) multiple of $10 in the case of penalties less than or equal
to $100;
(2) multiple of $100 in the case of penalties greater than $100
but less than or equal to $1,000;
(3) multiple of $1,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$1,000 but less than or equal to $10,000;
(4) multiple of $5,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$10,000 but less than or equal to $100,000;
(5) multiple of $10,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$100,000 but less than or equal to $200,000; and
(6) multiple of $25,000 in the case of penalties greater than
$200,000.
(b) D EFINITION. For purposes of s ubsection (a), the term
cost-of-living adjustmen t means the percentag e (if any) for ea ch civil
monetary penalty by which
(1) the Consumer Price Index for the month of June of the
calendar year preceding the adjustment, exceeds
(2) the Consumer Price Index for the month of June of the
calendar year in which the amount o f such civil m onetary pena lty
was last set or adjusted pursuant to law.
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ANNUAL REPORT

S EC. 6. Any increa se under th is Act in a civ il monetary pen alty shall
apply only to violatio ns which occur afte r the date the in crease take s effect.
L IMITATION ON INITIAL A DJUSTMENT. The first ad justment of a civil
mon etary p enal ty . . . may not exc eed 1 0 percen t of such penalty.
28 U.S.C. § 24 61 note (Supp. V 1999).
7 C.F.R .:
TITLE 7
SUBTITLE A

AGRICULTURE

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE

....
PART 3

DEBT MANAGEMENT

....
Subpart E

Adjusted Civil Monetary Penalties

§ 3.91 Adjusted civil monetary penalties.
(a) In general. The Secretary will adjust the civil mon etary
penalties, listed in paragraph (b), to take account of inflation at least once
every 4 years as required by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation
Adjustment Act of 1990 (Pub. L. No. 101-410), as amended by the Debt
Collection Improve ment Act of 19 96 (Pub. L. No . 104-134).
(b) Penalties . . . .
....
(2) Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service. . . .
....
(vii) Civil penalty for a violation of Horse Protection Act, codified
at 15 U .S.C. 18 25(b)(1 ), has a m aximu m of $ 2,200[ .]
7 C.F.R. § 3.91(a), (b)(2)(vii).
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9 C.F.R .:
TITLE 9
CHAPTER I

ANIMALS AND ANIMAL PRODUCTS

ANIMAL AND PLANT HEALTH INSPECTION SERVICE,
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
SUBCHAPTER A

ANIMAL WELFARE

....
PART 11

HORSE PROTECTION REGULATIONS

§ 11.1 Definitions.
For the purpose of this part, unless the context otherwise requires,
the follow ing terms sh all have the m eanings as signed to the m in this
section. The singular form shall also impart the plural and the masculine
form shall also impart the feminine. Words of art undefined in the
following paragraphs shall have the meaning attributed to them by trade
usage or general usage as reflected in a standard dictionary, such as
Webs ter s.
....
Designated Qualified Person or DQP means a person meeting the
requirements specified in § 11.7 of this part who has been licensed as a
DQP by a horse industry organization or association having a DQP program
certified by the Department and who may be appointed and delegated
authority by the management of any horse show, horse exhibition, horse
sale or horse auction under section 4 of the Act to detect or diagnose horses
which ar e sore or to o therwise in spect horse s and any reco rds pertaining to
such hors es for the p urposes o f enforcin g the Act.
....
§ 11.7 Certification and licensing of designated qualified persons
(DQP s).
(a) Basic qua lifications of D QP ap plicants. DQP s holding a valid,
current DQP license issued in accordance with this part may be appointed
by the management of any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse
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auction, as q ualified pers ons in acco rdance w ith section 4(c ) of the A ct, to
inspect horses to detect or diagnose soring and to otherwise inspect horses,
or any rec ords pe rtaining to any ho rse for th e purpo se of en forcing the Ac t.
Individuals who may be licensed as DQP s under this part shall be:
(1) Docto rs of Vete rinary Med icine who are accred ited in any State
by the United States Dep artment of Agricu lture under part 161 of c hapter I,
title 9 of the Code of Federal Regulations, and who are:
(i) Members of the American Association of Equine Practitioners, or
(ii) Large animal practitioners with substantial equine experience, or
(iii) Know ledgeable in the area of equine lam eness as rela ted to
soring and soring practices (such as Doctors of Veterinary Medicine with a
small animal practice who own, train, judge, or show horses, or Doctors of
Veterinary Medicine who teach equine related subjects in an accredited
college or school of veterinary medicine). Accredited Doctors of
Veterinary M edic ine w ho m eet th ese c riteria ma y be lic ense d as D QP s by a
horse industry organization or association whose DQP program has been
certified by the Department under this part without undergoing the formal
training requirements set forth in this section.
(2) Farriers, horse trainers, and other knowledgeable horsemen
whose past experience and training would qualify them for positions as
horse indu stry organization or association stewards o r judges (or th eir
equivale nt) and w ho have b een f ormally tra ined and licen sed a s DQ P s by a
horse industry organization or association whose DQP program has been
certified by the Department in accordance with this section.
(b) Certification requirements for DQP programs. The Department
will not license DQP s on an individual basis. Licensing of DQP s will be
accomplished only through DQP programs certified by the Department and
initiated a nd ma intained by horse industry o rganiza tions or a ssociatio ns.
Any horse industry organization or association desiring Department
certification to train and license DQP s under the Act shall submit to the
Administrator a formal request in writing for certification of its DQP
progra m and a detaile d outlin e of su ch prog ram fo r Depa rtment a pprov al.
Such outline shall include the organizational structure of such organization
or association and the names of the officers or persons charged with the
management of the organization or association. The outline shall also
contain at least the following:
(1) The criteria to be used in selecting DQP candidates and the
minimum qualification s and kno wledge r egarding h orses each candidate
must have in order to be admitted to the program.
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(2) A cop y of the form al training pro gram, classro om and p ractical,
required to be completed by each DQP candidate before being licensed by
such horse industry organization or association, including the minimum
number of hours, classroom and practical, and the subject matter of the
training program. Such training program must meet the following
minimum standards in order to be certified by the Department under the
Act.
(i) Two hours of classroom instruction on the anatomy and
physiology of the limbs of a horse. The instructor teaching the course must
be specified, and a resume of said instructor s background, experience, and
qualifications to teach such co urse shall be provided to the Administrator.
(ii) Two hours of classroom instruction on the Horse Protection Act
and regulations and their interpretation. Instructors for this course must be
furnished or recomm ended by the Departm ent. Requ ests for instruc tors to
be furnished or recommended must be made to the Administrator in writing
at least 30 days prior to such course.
(iii) Four hours of classroom instruction on the history of soring, the
physical examination procedures necessary to detect soring, the detection
and diagnosis of soring, and related subjects. The instructor teaching the
course must be specified and a summary of said instructor s background,
experience, and qualifications to teach such course must be provided to the
Administrator.
(iv) Four hours of pra ctical instruction in clinics and seminars
utilizing live horses with actual application of the knowledge gained in the
classroom subjects co vered in pa ragraphs (b )(2)(i), (ii), and (iii) of th is
section. Methods and procedures required to perform a thorough and
uniform examination of a horse shall be included. The names of the
instructors and a resume of their background, academic and practical
experience, and qualifications to present such instruction shall be provided
to the Administrator. Notification of the actual date, time, duration, subject
matter, and g eograph ic location of such clinics o r seminars m ust be sent to
the Administrator at least 10 da ys prior to each such clinic or semina r.
(v) One hour of classroom instruction regarding the DQP standards
of conduct promulgated by the licensing organization or association
pursuant to paragraph (d)(7) of this section.
(vi) One hour of classroom instruction on recordkeeping and
reporting requirements and procedures.
(3) A sample of a written examination which must be passed by
DQP candidates for succes sful comp letion of the p rogram alo ng with
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sample answers and the scoring thereof, and proposed passing and failing
standards.
(4) The criteria to be used to determine the qualifications and
performance abilities of DQP candidates selected for the training program
and the criteria used to indicate successful completion of the training
program, in addition to the written examination required in paragraph (b)(3)
of this section.
(5) The criteria and schedule for a continuing education program
and the criteria and methods of monitoring and appraising performance for
continu ed licen sing of DQP s by such organi zation o r associa tion. A
continuing education program for DQP s shall consist of not less than 4
hours of instruction per year.
(6) Procedures for monitoring horses in the unloading, preparation,
warmup, and barn areas, or other such areas. Such monitoring may include
any horse that is stabled, loaded on a trailer, being prepared for show,
exhibition, sale, or auction, or exercised, or that is otherwise on the grounds
of, or present at, any horse show, horse exhibition, or horse sale or auction.
(7) The methods to be used to insure uniform interpretation and
enforcement of the Horse Protection Act and regulations by DQP s and
uniform procedures for inspecting horses for compliance with the Act and
regulations;
(8) Standards of conduct for DQP s promulgated by the organization
or association in accordance with paragraph (d)(7) of this section; and
(9) A formal request for Department certification of the DQP
program.
The hors e industry orga nizations or a ssociations th at have fo rmally
requested Department certification of their DQP training, enforcement, and
maintenance program will receive a formal notice of certification from the
Department, or the reasons, in writing, why certification of such program
cannot be approved. A current list of certified DQP programs and licensed
DQP s will be published in the FEDERAL R EGISTER at least once each year,
and as may be further required for the purpose of deleting programs and
names of DQP s that are no longer certified or licensed, and of adding the
names of programs and DQP s that have been certified or licensed
subseque nt to the pub lication of the previous list.
(c) Licensing of DQP s. Each horse industry organization or
association receiving Department certification for the training and licensing
of DQ P s under the Act shall:
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(1) Issue each DQP licensed by such horse industry organization or
association a numbered identification card bearing the name and personal
signature of the DQP, a picture of the DQP, and the name and add ress,
including the street address or post office box and zip code, of the licensing
organization or association;
(2) Submit a list to the Administrator of names and addresses
including street address or post office box and zip code, of all DQP s that
have successfully completed the certified DQP program and have been
licensed under the Act and regulations by such horse industry organization
or association;
(3) Notify the Department of any additions or deletions of names of
licensed DQP s from the licensed DQP list submitted to the Department or
of any change in the address of any licensed DQP or any warnings and
license revocations issued to an y DQP licensed by such horse industry
organization or association within 10 days of such change;
(4) Not license any person as a DQP if such person has been
convicted of any violation of the Act or regulations occurring after July 13,
1976, or paid any fine or civil penalty in settlement of any proceeding
regarding a violation of the Act or regulations occurring after July 13, 1976,
for a period of at least 2 years follow ing the first such violation, and for a
period of at least 5 years following the second such violation and any
subsequent violation;
(5) Not license any person as a DQP until such person has attended
and worked two recognized or affiliated horse shows, horse exhibitions,
horse sales, or horse auctions as an apprentice DQP and has demonstrated
the ability, qualificatio ns, know ledge and integrity required to satisfactorily
execute the duties and responsibilities of a DQP;
(6) Not license any person as a DQP if such person has been
disqualified by the Secretary from making detection, diagnosis, or
inspection for the purpose of enforcing the Act, or if such person s DQP
license is canceled by another horse industry organization or association.
(d) Requirements to be met by DQP s and Licensing Organizations
or Asso ciations . (1) Any licensed DQP appointed by the management of
any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale or auction to inspect horses for
the purpose of de tecting and determining o r diagnosing horses w hich are
sore and to otherwise inspect horses for the purpose of enforcing the Act
and regulations, shall keep and maintain the following information and
records concerning any horse which said DQP recommends be disqualified
or excuse d for any reas on at such horse sho w, horse e xhibition, ho rse sale
or auction, from being shown, exhibited, sold o r auctioned, in a uniform
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format required by the horse industry organization or association that has
licensed said DQP:
(i) The name and address, including street address or post office box
and zip code, of the sh ow and the sho w manage r.
(ii) The name and address, including street address or post office
box and zip cod e, of the horse own er.
(iii) The name and address, including street address or post office
box and zip cod e, of the horse trainer.
(iv) The name and address, including street address or post office
box and zip cod e, of the horse exhibitor.
(v) The exhibitors number and class number, or the sale or auction
tag number of said horse.
(vi) The date and time of the inspection.
(vii) A detailed description of all of the DQP s findings and the
nature of the alleged violation, or other reason for disqualifying or excusing
the horse, inc luding said D QP s statement re garding the evidence or facts
upon which the decision to disqualify or excuse said horse was based.
(viii) The name, age, sex, color, and markings of the horse; and
(ix) The name or names of the show manager or other management
representative notified by the DQP that such horse should be excused or
disqualified and whether or not such manager or management
representative excused or disqualified such horse.
Copies of the above records shall be submitted by the involved DQP to the
horse indu stry organization or association that has licens ed said D QP w ithin
72 hours after the horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction
is over.
(2) The D QP sha ll inform the custodian o f each ho rse allegedly
found in violation of the Act or its regulations, or disqualified or excused
for any other reason, of such action and the specific reasons for such action.
(3) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Department certified DQP program shall submit a report to the Department
containing the following information, from records required in paragraph
(d)(1) of this section and other available sources, to the Department on a
monthly basis:
(i) The identity of all horse shows, horse exhibitions, horse sales, or
horse auc tions that hav e retained the services of DQP s licensed b y said
organi zation o r associa tion du ring the month covere d by the re port.
Information concerning the identity of such horse shows, horse exhibitions,
horse sales, or horse auctions shall include:
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(A) The name and location of the show, exhibition, sale, or auction.
(B) The nam e and address of the manager.
(C) The date or dates of the show, exhibition, sale, or auction.
(ii) The identity of all horses at each horse show, horse exhibition,
horse sale, or horse auction that the licensed DQP recommended be
disqualified or excused for any reason. The information concerning the
identity of such horses shall include:
(A) The registered name of each horse.
(B) The name and address of the owner, trainer, exhibitor, or other
person having custody of or responsibility for the care of each such horse
disqualified or excused.
(4) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Departm ent certified D QP pro gram sha ll provide, by certif ied mail if
personal service is not possible, to the trainer and owner of each horse
allegedly found in violation of the Act or its regulations or otherwise
disqualified or excused for any reason, the following information;
(i) The name and date of the show, exhibition, sale, or auction.
(ii) The name of the horse and the reason why said horse was
excused , disqualified, o r alleged to b e in violation o f the Act o r its
regulations.
(5) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Department certified DQP program shall provide each of its licensed DQP s
with a current list of all persons that have been disqualified by order of the
Secretary from showing or exhibiting any horse, or judging or managing
any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction. The
Departm ent will ma ke such list av ailable, on a c urrent basis, to
organizations and associations maintaining a certified DQP program.
(6) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Department certified DQP program shall develop and provide a continuing
education program for licensed DQ P s which provides n ot less than 4 hours
of instruction per year to each licensed DQP.
(7) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Department certified DQP program shall promulgate standards of conduct
for its DQP s, and shall provide administrative procedures within the
organization or association for initiating, maintaining, and enforcing such
standards. The procedures shall include the causes for and methods to be
utilized for canceling the license of any DQP who fails to properly and
adequately carry out his duties. Minimum standards of conduct for DQP s
shall include the following;
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(i) A DQP shall not exhibit any horse at any horse show or horse
exhibition, or sell, auction, or purchase any horse sold at a horse sale or
horse auction at which he or she has been appointed to inspect horses;
(ii) A DQP shall not inspect horses at any horse show, horse
exhibition, horse sale or horse auction in which a horse or horses owned by
a member of the DQP s immediate fam ily or the DQP s employer are
competing or are being offered for sale;
(iii) A DQ P shall follow the uniform inspection p rocedures of his
certified organization or association when inspecting horses; and
(iv) The DQP shall immediately inform management of each case
regarding any horse which, in his opinion, is in violation of the Act or
regulations.
(e) Prohibition of appointment of certain persons to perform duties
under the Act. The management of any horse show, horse exhibition, horse
sale, or horse auction shall not appoint any person to detect and diagnose
horses which are sore or to otherwise inspect horses for the purpose of
enforcing the Act, if that person:
(1) Does not hold a valid, current DQP license issued by a horse
industry organization or association having a DQP program certified by the
Departm ent.
(2) Has had his DQP license canceled by the licensing organization
or association.
(3) Is disqualified by the Secretary from performing diagnosis,
detection, and inspection un der the Act, after notice and opportunity for a
hearing, when the Secretary finds that such person is unfit to perform such
diagnosis, d etection, or ins pection be cause he h as failed to p erform h is
duties in accordance with the Act or regulations, or because he has been
convicted of a violation of any provision of the Act or regulations occurring
after July 13, 1976, or has paid any fine or civil penalty in settlement of any
proceeding regarding a violation of the Act or regulations occurring after
July 13, 1976.
(f) Cancellation of DQP license. (1) Each horse industry
organization or association having a DQP program certified by the
Department shall issue a written warning to any DQP whom it has licensed
who violates the rules, regulations, by-laws, or standards of conduct
promulg ated by such h orse industry org anization o r association p ursuant to
this section, w ho fails to fo llow the pro cedures se t forth in § 11 .21 of this
part, or who otherwise carries out his duties and responsibilities in a less
than satisfactory manner, and sh all cancel the license of any DQ P after a
seco nd violat ion. U pon canc ellation o f his DQ P license , the D QP m ay,
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within 30 days thereafter, request a hearing before a review committee of
not less than three persons ap pointed by the licensing horse indu stry
organization or association. If the review committee sustains the
cancellation of the license, the DQP may appeal the decision of such
committee to the Administrator within 30 days from the date of such
decision, and the Administrator shall make a final determination in the
matter. If the Administrator finds, after providing the DQP whose license
has been canceled with a notice and an opportunity for a hearing, that there
is sufficient cause for the committee s determination regarding license
cancellation, he shall issue a decision sustaining such determination. If he
does not find that there was sufficient cause to cancel the license, the
licensing organization or association shall reinstate the license.
(2) Each horse industry organization or association having a
Department certified DQP program shall cancel the license of any DQP
licensed under its program who has been convicted of any violation of the
Act or reg ulations or o f any DQ P who h as paid a fin e or civil pen alty in
settlement of any alleged violation of the Act or regulations if such alleged
violation occurred after July 13, 1976.
(g) Revocation of DQP program certification of horse industry
organ izations or asso ciations . Any horse industry organization or
association having a Department certified DQP program that has not
received D epartmen t approval o f the inspec tion proced ures provid ed for in
paragraph (b)(6) of this section, or that otherwise fails to comply with the
requireme nts containe d in this section , may have su ch certificatio n of its
DQP program revoked, unless, upon written notification from the
Department of such failure to comply with the requirements in this section,
such organization or association takes immediate action to rectify such
failure and takes appropriate steps to prevent a recurrence of such
noncompliance within the time period specified in the Department
notification, or otherwise adequately explains such failure to comply to the
satisfaction of the Department. Any horse industry organization or
association whose DQP program certification has been revoked may appeal
such revo cation to the A dministrator in writing w ithin 30 days af ter the date
of such revocation a nd, if requested, shall be affo rded an opportun ity for a
hearing. All DQP licenses issued by a horse industry organization or
association whose D QP program certification has been revok ed shall expire
30 days after the date of such revocation, or 15 days after the date the
revocation becomes final after appeal, unless they are transferred to a horse
industry organization or association having a program currently certified by
the Depa rtment.
9 C.F.R. §§ 11.1, .7 (19 98) (footnotes om itted).
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FINDINGS OF FACT
1.

Respon dent is an ind ividual wh o resides an d has his pla ce of bus iness in

Norman, O klahoma. Resp ondent has been a full-time physician practicing for 32 years
and is director of medical services at the Norman Regional Hospital, in Norman,
Oklah oma, w here he was in charge of the E merge ncy Dep artmen t for 29 years.
Respondent was elected by his peers to serve as chief-of-staff at Norman Regional
Hospital in 1992. In addition, Respondent has served his community for many years,
including a seat on the board of directors for the United Way for 6 years. (Answer ¶ 1;
RX D , RX E , RX F .)
2.

Respondent purchased Missy in December 1995 and placed her in training

at the David Landrum Stables where she remained for approximately 1 year. Her trainer
at the David Landrum Stables, Link Webb, left the David Landrum Stables and took
Missy with him. Because Mr. Webb was having trouble getting Missy to canter, he
suggested that Respondent move Missy to Young s Stables to be trained by Ronal Young,
which Respondent did in August 1997. At the time of the violation alleged in the
Complaint, Missy lived at Young s Stables in Lewisberg, Tennessee, and thus resided
hundreds of miles from Respondent s residence and place of business. Ronal Young was
Missy s trainer from August 1997 to approximately February 1999. (CX 2, CX 4 at 1;
Tr. 151 -52, 17 4-76, 1 87.)
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3.

During the period that Respondent owned Missy, the trainers hired by

Respondent showed Missy in horse shows approximately 25 times and, until the violation
alleged in the Complaint, Missy had not been found to be sore (CX 4 at 1; Tr. 151,
161-62).
4.

Respondent made clear to each trainer that he only purchased horses that

walked naturally, in other words they did not n eed to be sored (Tr. 15 0-52, 170-71).
5.

On Se ptemb er 4, 199 8, Resp onden t owne d Mis sy (CX 4 at 1; Tr. 1 82, 185 ).

On September 4, 1998, Missy s trainer, Ronal Young, entered Missy as entry number 654
in class num ber 121 a t the 60th A nnual Te nnessee W alking Ho rse Nation al Celebratio n in
Shelbyville, Tennessee, for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy at the show (CX 1
at 3, CX 4; Tr. 19-2 0, 189).
6.

On September 4, 1998, Mark Thomas and Ira Gladney, Designated

Qualified Persons,1 inspected M issy just prior to her s cheduled participation in the 60th
Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration and disqualified her from being
shown or exhibited based up on her ge neral appe arance, loco motion, an d reaction to
palpation (CX 3 b at 1, CX 3c; R X A; Tr. 51-52 , 67, 69).

1

A Designated Qualified Person or DQP is an individual appointed by the
management of a horse show and trained under a United States Department of
Agriculture-sponsored program to inspect horses for compliance with the Horse
Protection Act (15 U .S.C. § 1823; 9 C.F .R. §§ 11.1, .7).
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7.

On Septem ber 4, 1998, Dr. John Michael Gu erdon and D r. Ruth E. Bakke r,

veterinary medical officers employed by the United States Department of Agriculture,
examined Missy when she was entered in the 60th Annu al Tennessee Walking Horse
National Celebration and found her to be sore as that term is defined in the Horse
Protection Act2 (CX 3a, CX 3b, CX 3c, CX 4 at 2; Tr. 46-56, 85, 130-39). Respondent
concedes Missy was sore when Ronal Young entered Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee
Walking Horse National Celebration for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy at
the show (CX 4; Tr. 152-53, 155, 16 1-62).
8.

When Respondent first attended the 60th Annual Tennessee W alking Horse

National Celebration, Respondent did not know Missy was at the 60th Annual Tennessee
Walking Horse National Celebration. Respondent first became aware that Ronal Young
planned to show Missy when Ronal Young s wife, Judy Young, approached Respondent
in the stands at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration and
inform ed Re spond ent that M issy had b een turned down during a pre-sh ow ins pection .
Respondent was at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration to see
two of his other horses, Silver Dollar and A Shot of Gen. Upon being told Missy had not
passed inspection, Respondent attempted to find Ronal Young and Missy but discovered
they h ad both left th e gro unds. When Respondent con fron ted R onal Young the n ext d ay,

2

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 21(3).
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Ronal Young assured Respondent that what had happened did not involve Respondent
and R espon dent sh ould no t worry. (C X 4 at 2 ; Tr. 152 -53, 16 9, 194- 95.)
9.

Notwithstanding the distance which existed between Respondent s place of

business an d residence and Yo ung s Stables, R esponde nt made u nannou nced visits to
Young s Stables and never found Missy to be sore. During these visits to Young s
Stables , Missy s gait ap peared to Resp onden t to be fr ee, flow ing, and natural.
(Tr. 152 -53, 17 0.)
10.

Bef ore e mploying Ron al Young to b oard , train , and show Mis sy,

Respon dent talked to other traine rs to determin e whethe r Ronal Y oung ha d previou sly
entered or exhibited a sore horse (Tr. 162-63, 171, 173, 176). Ronal Young had
previously been cited for violating the Horse Protection Act, which information was
available to Respondent from the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service
(Tr. 212-14, 220-23). However, during the period material to this proceeding,
Respondent did not know about Ro nal Young s previous citation for violating the Horse
Protection Act, and Respondent was unaware of a way to have found that information or
to have checked Ronal You ng s record (Tr. 162-63, 17 1, 176-77).
11.

Respondent did not maintain control over the training methods which he

expec ted Ro nal Yo ung to s elect an d emp loy whe n trainin g Mis sy (CX 4 at 2).
Respondent testified that he instructed Ronal Young not to sore or otherwise abuse Missy
(Tr. 150-52, 170-71, 194-95). Ronal Young admitted in a written statement that
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Respondent advised him to refrain from soring Missy or from doing any act which might
make Missy be in violation of the Horse Protection Act (RX B). Tim Gray, another
trainer hired b y Respond ent, also subm itted a written s tatement w hich supp orts
Responden t s testimony that he instructed trainers not to sore his ho rses (RX C).
12.

Respondent continued to employ Ronal Young to board, train, and show

Missy for approximately 6 months after Ronal Young entered Missy as entry number 654
in class number 121 at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration
while she was so re (Tr. 174-76, 187).
DISCUSSION
Congress found the soring of horses is cruel and inhumane and horses shown or
exhibited w hich are sor e, where s uch soren ess improv es the perfo rmance . . . , com pete
unfairl y with ho rses wh ich are n ot sore.

3

Congress made it unlawful to: (1) show or

exhibit a sore horse in any horse show or horse exhibition; (2) enter for the purpose of
showing or exhibiting a sore horse in any horse show or horse exhibition; or (3) allow the
showing or exhibition of a sore horse in any horse show or horse exhibition.4 The term
sore describes a horse, which, as a result of the use of a substance or practice, suffers,

3

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 22(1)-(2).

4

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 24(2)(A)-(B), (D).
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or can reasonably be expected to suffer, physical pain or distress, inflammation, or
lamen ess wh en wa lking, tro tting, or o therwi se mov ing.

5

To pro ve a vio lation of section 5(2)(D ) of the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(D)), Complainant must establish by a preponderance of evidence 6 that: (1) the
5

6

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 21(3).

The proponent of an order has the burden of proof in proceedings conducted
under the Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. § 556(d)), and the standard of proof by
which the bur den of persua sion is m et is the p repond erance of the e videnc e stand ard.
Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S . 375, 387-9 2 (1983); Steadman v. SEC,
450 U.S. 91, 92-104 (1981). The standard of proof in an administrative proceeding
condu cted un der the H orse Pr otection Act is p repond erance of the e videnc e. In re
William J. Reinhart, 60 Agric. Dec. ___, slip op. at 27 n.7 (Jan. 23, 2001) (Order Denying
William J. R einhart s Pet. for R econs.); In re Carl Edwards & Sons Stables (Decision as
to Carl Edward s & Sons Stab les, Gary R. Edwards , Larry E. Edwards, and Etta Edwards),
56 Ag ric. Dec . 529, 53 9 (199 7), aff d per curiam, 138 F.3d 958 (11 th Cir. 1998) (Table),
printed in 57 Agric . Dec. 296 (1998); In re Gary R. Edwards (Decision as to Gary R.
Edwards, Larry E. Edwards, and Carl Edwards & Sons Stables), 55 Agric. Dec. 892, 903
(1996 ), dismissed, No. 96-9 472 (11th Cir. Aug . 15, 1997); In re John T. Gray (Decision
as to Glen Edwar d Cole), 55 Agric. D ec. 853, 85 7 n.2 (199 6); In re Jim Singleton, 55
Agric. D ec. 848, 85 0 n.2 (199 6); In re Keith B ecknell, 54 Agric. Dec. 335 , 343-44 (1995);
In re C.M. Oppenheimer (Decision as to C.M. Oppenheimer), 54 Agric. Dec. 221, 245-46
(1995); In re Eddie C. Tuck (Decision as to Eddie C. Tuck), 53 Agric. Dec. 261, 285
(1994 ), appeal voluntarily dismissed, No. 94-1 887 (4th C ir. Oct. 6, 199 4); In re William
Earl Bobo, 53 Ag ric. Dec . 176, 19 7 (199 4), aff d, 52 F.3d 1 406 (6th C ir. 1995); In re
Jack Ke lly, 52 Ag ric. Dec . 1278, 1 286 (1 993), appeal dismissed, 38 F.3d 999 (8th C ir.
1994); In re Charles Sims (Decision as to Charles Sims), 52 Agric. Dec. 1243, 1253-54
(1993); In re Paul A. Watlington, 52 Agric. D ec. 1172, 1 186-87 (1 993); In re Jackie
McCo nnell (Decis ion as to Jackie M cCon nell), 52 Agric. D ec. 115 6, 1167 (1993 ), aff d,
23 F.3 d 407, 1 994 W L 162 761 (6 th Cir. 1 994), printed in 53 Agric . Dec. 174 (1994); In
re A.P. H olt (Decision as to Richard Polch and Merrie Polch), 52 Agric. Dec. 233, 242-43
(1993 ), aff d per curiam, 32 F.3d 569, 1994 WL 390510 (6th Cir. 1994) (citation limited
under 6th Circuit Ru le 24); In re Steve Brinkley, 52 Agric. D ec. 252, 26 2 (1993); In re
John Allan Callaway, 52 Agric. D ec. 272, 28 4 (1993); In re Linda Wagner (Decision as
to Roy E . Wagn er and J udith E . Rizio), 5 2 Agr ic. Dec . 298, 30 7 (199 3), aff d, 28 F.3d
(contin ued...)
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person charged is the owner of the horse in question; (2) the horse was shown, exhibited,
or entered in a horse show or exhibition; (3) the horse was sore at the time it was shown,
exhibite d, or ente red; and (4) th e ow ner a llow ed th e sho wing, ex hibition, or en try.
Respo ndent a dmits h e own ed M issy on Se ptemb er 4, 199 8 (An swer ¶ 2).
Complainant presented evidence sufficient to raise the statutory presumption 7 that Missy
was sore on Septem ber 4, 1998 , when R onal Yo ung entere d Missy as en try number 6 54 in
class number 121 at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration for
the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy. Complainant proved by a preponderance of
the evidence that Missy was sore as that term is defined in the Horse Protection Act8
(CX 3a, CX 3b, CX 3c, CX 4 at 2; Tr. 46-56, 85, 130-39). Respondent failed to present
evidence sufficient to rebut either Complainant s prima facie case or the statutory
presumption. Respondent concedes that Missy was sore when Ronal Young, the trainer
Respondent hired to train Missy, entered Missy for the purpose of showing or exhibiting

6

(...continued)
279 (3 d Cir. 19 94), reprinted in 53 Agric . Dec. 169 (1994); In re William Dwain e Elliott
(Decis ion as to William Dwa ine Ellio tt), 51 A gric. De c. 334, 3 41 (19 92), aff d, 990 F.2d
140 (4 th Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U.S . 867 (199 3); In re Pat Sparkman (Decision as to Pat
Sparkm an and B ill McCo ok), 50 A gric. Dec. 6 02, 612 (1 991); In re Albert Lee Rowland,
40 Ag ric. Dec . 1934, 1 941 n.5 (1981 ), aff d, 713 F.2d 179 (6th C ir. 1983); In re Steve
Beech, 37 Agric. Dec. 118 1, 1183-85 (197 8).
7

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(d)(5).

8

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 21(3).
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Missy at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration (CX 4 at 2;
Tr. 152-53, 155, 161 -62).
The issue in this case is wh ether Responde nt allowed the entry of Missy as entry
number 654 in class number 121 at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National
Celebration, while she was sore, and thus violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection
Act (15 U.S.C . § 1824(2)(D)).
The United States Department of Agriculture has long held that a horse owner who
allows a person to enter the owner s horse in a horse show or horse exhibition for the
purpose of show ing or exhibiting the horse is a g uarantor that the horse w ill not be sore
when the horse is entered in that horse show or horse exhibition.9 The evidence
establishes th at Respon dent did no t know th at Ronal Y oung en tered Mis sy in the 60th
Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration until he was informed by Judy

9

See, e.g., In re Carl Edwards & Sons Stables (Decision as to Carl Edwards &
Sons Stables, Gary R. Edwards, Larry E. Edwards, and Etta Edwards), 56 Agric. Dec.
529, 589-90 (1997) (stating an owner who allows a person to enter the owner s horse in a
horse sho w or hors e exhibition for the pur pose of e xhibiting the horse is an a bsolute
guaran tor that th e horse will no t be sore when exhibite d), aff d per curiam, 138 F.3d 958
(11th C ir. 1998 ) (Table ), printed in 57 Agric . Dec. 296 (1998); In re Gary R. Edwards
(Decision as to Ga ry R. Edwards, Larry E. Ed wards, and Ca rl Edwards & Sons Stables),
55 Agric. Dec. 892, 979 (1996) (stating an owner who allows a person to exhibit a horse
in a horse show o r horse exhibition is an absolute g uarantor that the horse w ill not be sore
when the hor se is exh ibited), dismissed, No. 96-9472 (11 th Cir. Aug. 15, 1997 ); In re
John T. Gray (Decision as to Glen Edward Cole), 55 Agric. Dec. 853, 888 (1996) (stating
horse owners who allow the entry of horses for the purpose of showing or exhibiting
those horses in a horse show or horse exhibition are absolute guarantors that those horses
will not be sore wh en entered).
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Young that Missy had been turned down (CX 4 at 2; Tr. 152-53). Nonetheless, the
record is clear that Respondent allowed Ronal Young to enter Missy in the 60th Annual
Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration. Respondent testified that trainers who
Respondent hired, including Ronal Young, entered Missy in horse shows and horse
exhibitions approximately 25 times before September 4, 1998, and Ronal Young entered
Missy in at least two horse shows or horse exhibitions after September 4, 1998 (Tr. 151,
174-75). The reco rd contains no eviden ce that Responde nt objected to his trainers
entering Missy in horse shows or horse exhibitions, and, specifically, the record contains
no eviden ce that Res ponden t objected to R onal Yo ung s entering M issy in the 60th
Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration for the purpose of showing or
exhibiting M issy in that horse sh ow. M oreover, R esponde nt does no t contend th at he did
not allow Ronal Young to enter Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee W alking Horse
National Celebration. Under these circumstances, Respondent was a guarantor that Missy
would not be sore when Ronal Young entered Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee
Walking Horse National Celebration. Complainant proved by a preponderance of the
evidence that Missy was sore when Ronal Young entered Missy in the 60th Annual
Tenness ee Walk ing Horse National C elebration. T hus, Resp ondent br eached h is
guarantee as a horse owner that Ronal Young (a person who Respondent hired to board,
train, and sho w Miss y and a perso n allowed by Respon dent to ente r Missy in the 6 0th
Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration) would not enter Missy in the
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60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration for the purpose of showing
or exhibiting Missy wh ile she was sore. Base d upon R esponde nt s breach o f this
guarantee, I conclude that, on September 4, 1998, Respondent allowed the entry of Missy
for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy as entry number 654 in class number 121
at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration in Shelbyville,
Tennessee, while Missy was sore, in violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection
Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)). Respondent cannot escape liability for a violation of
section 5(2 )(D) of the Horse P rotection A ct (15 U.S .C. § 1824 (2)(D)) ba sed on his
credible testimony that, prior to the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National
Celebration, he did not have actual knowledge that Ronal Young would enter Missy in the
show or based on his credible testimony that he instructed R onal Young not to sore
Mis sy.
Respondent urges that I refrain from applying the United States Department of
Agriculture s test to determine whether he violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)). Instead, Respondent requests that I apply the
tests to determine whether a horse owner has violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) which have been adopted by the United States
Court of Appea ls for the Six th Circuit, the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals for the Eighth
Circuit, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, as follows:
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[BY D R. McC LOY :]
In summary, I wish the facts of this case would be considered in the
case -- in the lig ht of other c ases, Baird v USD A, 39 Fe d 3d 131 at the Sixth
Circuit; Burton v USDA, 683 Fed 2d 280 in the Eighth Circuit; and Lewis v
the Secreta ry of Agricu lture, 73 Fed 3d 312 in the Eleven th Circuit.
I believe if on e looks at the evidence in this case w ith respect to
these cases , that the hearin g would result in a def ense verd ict.
Tr. 195.
Howe ver, the tests ad opted by the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals for the Sixth
Circuit, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, and the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit are inapposite. Respondent may obtain judicial
review of this Decision and Order in the court of appeals of the United States for the
circuit in which Respondent resides or has his place of business or the United States
Court of Appea ls for the D istrict of Colu mbia Circ uit.10 Respondent does not reside in or
have h is place o f busin ess in the Sixth C ircuit, the Eighth Circuit, o r the Ele venth C ircuit.
Instead, the re cord establish es that Resp ondent res ides in and h as his place o f business in
Oklahoma (Compl. ¶ 1; Answer ¶ 1; RX D). Therefore, Respondent may obtain judicial
review o f this Decis ion and O rder in the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals for the Tenth
Circuit or the United S tates Court o f Appe als for the D istrict of Colu mbia Circ uit.
Respondent does not cite and I cannot locate any decision by the United States
Court of Appea ls for the Te nth Circuit in which the Court add resses the test to be used to

10

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(b)(2), (c).
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determine whether a horse owner has violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection Act
(15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)). The United States Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia Circuit has addressed the test to be used to determine whether a horse owner
has violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) and
has specifically rejected the test adopted by the United States Court of Appeals for the
Sixth Circu it and the test ad opted by the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals for the Eighth
Circuit, as follows:
That bring s us to petitione r s second a rgumen t: that on the fa cts
presented, the Depa rtment could not con clude that petitioner allow[ed]
the entry of a sore horse. This textual argument turns on the meaning of the
word allow. The Department contends that an owner can always prevent
a horse from being sored, and that therefore an owner is liable if her horse
is entered, showed, or exhibited while sore. Petitioner, on the other hand,
maintains that the word allow necessarily implies knowledg e of the sore
condition, or at least requires proof of circumstances that would alert the
owner that someone normally, we would suppose, the trainer was soring
the horse. In this case, it will be recalled, the petitioner testified, without
contradiction, that she instructed the trainer not to sore the horse. Petitioner
accuses the Departm ent of interp reting the w ord allow so as to crea te
absolute liability for an owner regardless of the circumstances that caused a
horse s soreness.
This issue has generated much discussion and concern in our fellow
circuits. T he Eig hth Cir cuit, Burton v. United States Dep t of Agriculture,
683 F .2d 280 , 282-8 3 (8th C ir. 1982 ), and th e Sixth Circuit, Baird v. United
States Dep t of Agriculture, 39 F.3d 131, 137-38 (6th Cir. 1994), have
rejected the Department s interpretation and have held that if an owner
produce d uncon tradicted evid ence that he or she instruc ted a trainer n ot to
sore the horse, the Department must in turn show that the instruction was a
ruse or th at the ow ner nev ertheles s had k nowle dge tha t the hor se was sore.
Compare Thornton v. Un ited States Dep t of Agriculture, 715 F.2d 1508,
1511-12 (11th Cir. 19 83); see also Stamper v. Secretary of Agriculture, 722
F.2d 1483, 148 8-89 (9th Cir. 1984).
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We respectfully disagree with our sister circuits who have required
the Depa rtment to pro duce evid ence rebu tting an ow ners prophylactic
instruction. Congress did not state that an owner is liable if she authorizes
or causes a horse to be sored. Th e word allow is a good deal softer, mo re
passive , and it ca n have varying m eaning s, e.g., to permit by ne glecting to
restrain or prevent, or to make a possibility: provide opportunity or
basis or (mo st strong ly) to intend or plan . W EBSTER S T HIRD N EW
INTERNA TIONAL D ICTIONARY 58 (1971). Since the word is ambiguous, we
are obliged under Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense
Council Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-43, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 2781-82, 81 L.Ed.2d
694 (1984), to defer to the Department s interpretation of the term (so long
as reasonable), which we take to be among the weaker ones in W ebster s,
to permit by neglecting to restrain or prevent. Accordingly, if an owner
enters or shows a sore horse, the Department assumes that he or she has not
prevented someo ne in his or her e mploy fr om sor ing the h orse. A nd, by
itself, testimony that the owner instructed the trainer not to sore the horse
will not exc ulpate the o wner. In so concludin g, the Dep artment m erely
takes into ac count the o bvious pro position that th e owne r has the po wer to
control his or her agents.
The Sixth Circuit reco gnized (in a footnote) th at Chevron governed
review o f the Dep artment s interpretation , but conclu ded the D epartmen t s
interpre tation w as unre asonab le. Baird, 39 F.3d at 137 n. 10. T he court
looked to Black s Law Dictionary, which does state that allow has no
rigid or precise meaning but then goes on to say, [t]o sanction, either
directly or indirectly, as opposed to merely suffering a thing to be done
(even that dictionary does, in a contradictory fashion, submit as an
alternative, to suffer; to tolerate ). From that language the court concluded
that
[A]s the above definition makes clear, there are basically two
ways to a llow so methin g to hap pen: eith er directly, e.g.,
explicitly condo ning or au thorizing the conduct o r act in
questio n; or indirect ly, e.g., by failing to prevent such
conduct or act in other words, by looking the other way or
by burying one s head in the sand. . . . . Liability would
follow in this latter instance if, for example, an owner had
cultivated a training atmosphere conducive to soring, or had
done nothing to dissuade the practice, knowing the tactics of
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his trainers in particular and/or the pervasiveness of the
practice in ge neral.
Baird v. U.S. Dep t of Agriculture, 39 F.3d at 137.
The Sixth Circuit s interpretation of the lang uage is certa inly
plausible, bu t we do n ot agree w ith its conclusio n that the D epartmen t s
interpretation is unreasonable or is functionally equivalent to the imposition
of absolu te liability. The De partment m erely holds the o wner resp onsible
for the actions of her agents (particularly the trainer) and will not permit the
owner to escape liab ility by testifying that she instru cted a trainer n ot to
sore. It might well be an entirely different case we have been able to find
none if an owner were able to show that a horse was sored by a stranger or
someon e not unde r, the owne r s control. A nd, it is of cou rse conceiv able
that a trainer would flatly disobey an owner s instruction. If an owner
produced such evidence together, presumably, with a showing that the
trainer had been terminated it might well be that the Department could not
conclu de reas onably th at the ow ner allowe d the entry o f a sore horse.
That is not this case, how ever, and that apparently has not be en the pattern
of most of these cases.
The Sixth Circuit recognized the government s concern that an
owner could easily offer evidence of a prophylactic instruction without real
fear of contradiction (trainers would be unlikely to cross the owners), but
the court concluded that this risk was simply a hazard of litigation: the
government still had the burden of disproving the sincerity of the
instructio n. Baird, 39 F.3d at 138 n. 11. That amounts to putting an
enormous burden and expense on the Administrator to establish how the
horse came to be sored, a burden that would be required if the statute called
for a sanction if an owner caused or authorized the soring. Since the
statute uses the term allow (i.e., permit, or does not prevent ), we do
not think the Administrator must shoulder such a task just because the
owner produces evidence of her instruction to the trainer. After all, the
instruction is not introduced to establish that the horse was not sore but
rather to relieve the owner of any responsibility for the soreness. Yet the
instruction, by itself, e ven we re it deemed totally sincere, is not n ecessarily
inconsistent with the proposition that the owner permitted for example,
through n eglect or lack of vigilanc e the horse to be sored. It is
unimaginable that an owner would be unfamiliar with soring practices
generally, as well as the Department s enforcement efforts, therefore if an
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owner s horse were sored, notwithstanding her instruction, she could be
said to have put her hea d in the sand unless som ething quite
extraordinary occurred.
The Department apparently believes that an owner can and must do a
good deal more than simply give the bare instruction to be thought to have
prevented her own horse from being entered in a sore condition. The
issue does n ot involve so much an allocation of burdens, a s the Sixth C ircuit
thought, but rather the weight the Department must give to evidence of the
owne r s instruc tion in lig ht of the Depa rtment s interpr etation o f the sta tute.
We do n ot think, in that c ontext, it is unre asonable f or the De partment to
conclude that such an instruction will not exculpate an owner for the
statutory responsibility for allowing the entry of a sore horse.
Crawford v. United States Dep t of Agric., 50 F.3 d 46, 50 -52 (D .C. Cir.), cert. denied,
516 U.S. 824 (1 995) (footnotes om itted).
Based on the test in Crawford, I conclude that Respondent allowed the entry of
Missy for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee
Walking Horse National Celebration while Missy was sore, in violation of section 5(2)(D)
of the Ho rse Protection Act (15 U .S.C. § 182 4(2)(D)). R esponde nt hired Ro nal You ng to
train Missy in A ugust 199 7 and R esponde nt retained R onal Yo ung as M issy s trainer until
approxim ately February 19 99. Durin g this period , Respon dent allow ed Ron al Youn g to
enter Missy in a number of horse shows or horse exhibitions, including the 60th Annual
Tenness ee Walk ing Horse National C elebration. R esponde nt had the p ower to c ontrol his
trainer and under Crawford, Respondent s testimony that he instructed Ronal Young not
to sore Missy does not permit Respondent to escape liability for his violation of section
5(2)(D) of the H orse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824 (2)(D)).
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Moreover, even if I were to apply the test adopted by the United States Court of
Appea ls for the Eig hth Circuit o r the test adop ted by the Un ited States C ourt of A ppeals
for the Eleventh Circuit to determine whether Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of the
Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), as Respondent urges, I would not dismiss
the Complaint. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit in Burton held,
as follows:
[W]e ho ld that the ow ner canno t be held to h ave allowed a sore horse to
be shown [in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)] when the following three
factors are shown to exist: (1) there is a finding that the owner had no
knowledge that the horse was in a sore condition, (2) there is a finding
that a Designated Q ualified Person exam ined and approv ed the horse before
entering the ring, and (3) there was uncontradicted testimony that the owner
had directed the trainer not to sho w a sore horse. All of these factors
take n tog ethe r are suff icien t to ex cuse an owne r fro m lia bility.
Burton v. United States Dep t of Agric., 683 F.2d 280, 28 3 (8th Cir. 1982).
The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in Lewis adopted
Burton with the caveat that the owner s directions to the trainer not to show a sore horse
must be meaningful, as follows:
The caveat we put on Burton relates to the third factor. Compliance
with it (along with the oth er two fac tors), frees the o wner of the ineluctab le
consequences of entry plus the fact of soreness and it frees him of being
found to allow in the passive sense described in Baird by hiding his
head or doing nothing. But compliance with the third element must be
meaningful rather than purely formal or ritualistic. The owner may give
firm and certain and suitably repeated directions not to sore and not to show
a horse that is in a sore condition. He may maintain a training environment
that discourages soring or makes it impossible. He may carry out inspection
practices tha t tend to reve al any efforts to sore. But, w hatever the form, his
efforts must be meaningful and not a mere formalistic evasion.
Lewis v. Secretary of Agric., 73 F.3d 312, 317 (11th Cir. 1996).
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The evidence clearly establishes that on September 4, 1998, two Designated
Qualified Persons examined Missy during a pre-show inspection at the 60th Annual
Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration and disqualified her from showing based
upon her general appearance, locomotion, and reaction to palpation (CX 3b at 1, CX 3c;
RX A; Tr. 51-52, 67, 69). The record contains no evidence that any Designated Qualified
Person examined and approved Missy for showing or exhibition at the 60th Annual
Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration. Therefore, Respondent does not meet
the requirement in Burton and Lewis that a Designated Qualified Person examine and
approve the horse before the horse enters the ring.
Howe ver, if I were to apply the test ad opted by the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals
for the Sixth Circuit in Baird, I would dismiss the Complaint against Respondent. The
Sixth Circuit sets forth the test to determine whether an owner has allowed the entry of
the owner s horse while the horse was sore, in violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), as follows:
In our view , the govern ment mu st, as an initial ma tter, make ou t a
prima facie case of a § 1824(2)(D) violation. It may do so by establishing
(1) ownership; (2) showing, exhibition, or entry; and (3) soreness. If the
government establishes a prima facie case, the owner may then offer
evidence that he took an affirmative step in an effort to prevent the soring
that occurred. Assuming the owner presents such evidence and the
evidence is justifiably credited, it is up to the government then to prove that
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the admonitions the owner directed to his trainers concerning the soring of
horses constituted merely a pretext or a self-serving ruse designed to mask
what is in actuality conduct violative of § 1824.
Baird v. United States Dep t of Agric., 39 F.3d 1 31, 137 (6 th Cir. 1994 ) (footnote
omitted).
In Baird, the affirmative step to prevent the soring that occurred was the horse
owner s direction to his trainers that his horses were not to be sored and his warning that
he would take the horses away from traine rs he suspected of so ring his horses. The C ourt
in Baird held that the horse owner s testimony alone, absent evidence to refute it, was
sufficient to show tha t the horse o wner did not allow his trainers to en ter and exh ibit his
horses while s ore, in v iolation of secti on 5(2 )(D) of the Ho rse Pro tection A ct (15 U .S.C. §
1824( 2)(D)) . Baird v. United States Dep t of Agric., 39 F.3d at 138.
Respo ndent te stified th at he too k affirm ative ste ps to pre vent the soring o f Miss y.
Specif ically, Res ponde nt testifie d that he instructe d Ron al You ng not t o sore M issy.
Moreover, Respondent introduced Ronal Young s written statement (RX B) which
corrob orates R espon dent s testimo ny that he instructe d Ron al You ng not t o sore M issy.
Complainant did not prove that Respondent s admonitions directed to Ronal Young
concerning the soring of Missy constituted merely a pretext or a self-serving ruse
designed to mask what is in actuality conduct violative of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)). However, again, I note that Respondent cannot
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obtain judicial review by the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit and
Baird is inapposite.
CONCLUSION OF LAW
On September 4, 1998, Respondent allowed the entry of Missy for the purpose of
showing or exhibiting Missy as entry number 654 in class number 121 at the 60th Annual
Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration in Shelbyville, Tennessee, while Missy
was so re, in vio lation of section 5(2)(D ) of the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(D)).
SANCTION
Section 6(b)(1) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1825(b)(1)) authorizes
the assessment of a civil penalty of not more than $2,000 for each violation of section 5 of
the Horse Protection A ct (15 U.S .C. § 1824 ). Howe ver, pursua nt to the Fed eral Civil
Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, as amended (28 U.S.C. § 2461 note), the
Secretary of A griculture, by reg ulation effe ctive Septe mber 2, 19 97, adjusted the civil
monetary penalty that may be assessed under section 6(b)(1) of the Horse Protection Act
(15 U.S.C. § 1825(b)(1)) for each violation of section 5 of the Horse Protection Act
(15 U.S.C. § 1824) by increasing the maximum civil penalty from $2,000 to $2,200.11
The Horse Protection Act also authorizes the disqualification of any person assessed a
civil penalty, from showing or exhibiting any horse or judging or managing any horse

11

See 62 Fed. Reg. 40 ,924-28 (July 31, 1997); 7 C .F.R. § 3.91(b)(2)(vii).
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show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction. The Horse Protection Act provides
minimum periods of disqualification of not less than 1 year for a first violation and not
less than 5 years for any subsequent violation.12
Congress has rec ognized the seriousne ss of soring horses. The legislative history
of the Horse Pro tection Act Am endments of 1 976 reveals the cruel and inhumane natu re
of soring horses, the unfair competitive aspects of soring, and the destructive effect of
soring on the horse industry, as follows:
NEED FOR LEGISLATION
The inhumanity of the practice of soring horses and its destructive
effect upon the horse industry led Congress to pass the Horse Protection Act
of 1970 (Public Law 91-540, December 9, 1970). The 1970 law was
intended to end the unnecessary, cruel and inhumane practice of soring
horses by making unlawful the exhibiting and showing of sored horses and
imposing significant p enalties for v iolations of th e Act. It wa s intended to
prohibit the showing of sored horses and thereby destroy the incentive of
owners and trainers to painfully mistreat their horses.
The practice of soring involved the alteration of the gait of a horse
by the infliction of pain through the use of devices, substances, and other
quick and artificial methods instead of through careful breeding and patient
training. A horse may be made sore by applying a blistering agent, such as
oil or mustard, to the postern area of a horse s limb, or by using various
action or training devices such as heavy chains or knocker boots on the
horse s limbs. When a horse s front limbs are deliberately made sore, the
intense pain suffered by the animal when the forefeet touch the ground
causes the animal to quickly lift its feet and thrust them forward. Also, the
horse reac hes furthe r with its hind feet in an ef fort to take w eight off its
front feet, thereby lessening the pain. The soring of a horse can produce the
high-stepping gait of the well-known Tennessee Walking Horse as well as

12

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(c).
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other popular gaited horse breeds. Since the passage of the 1970 act, the
bleeding horse has almost disappeared but soring continues almost
unabated. Devious soring methods have been developed that cleverly mask
visible evidence of soring. In addition the sore area may not necessarily be
visible to the naked eye.
The practice of soring is not only cruel and inhumane. The practice
also results in unfair competition and can ultimately damage the integrity of
the breed. A mediocre horse whose high-stepping gait is achieved
artificially by soring suffers from pain and inflam[m]ation of its limbs and
compete s unfairly with a properly and p atiently trained sou nd horse w ith
championship n atural ability. Horses that attain championship status a re
exceptionally valuable as breeding stock, particularly if the champion is a
stallion. Consequently, if champions continue to be created by soring, the
breed s natural gait abilities cannot be preserved. If the widespread soring
of horses is allowed to continue, properly bred and trained champion
horses would probably diminish significantly in value since it is difficult for
them to compete on an equal basis with sored horses.
Testimony given before the Subcommittee on Health and the
Environment demonstrated conclusively that despite the enactment of the
Horse Protection Act of 1970, the practice of soring has continued on a
widespread basis. Several witnesses testified that the intended effect of the
law was vitiated by a combination of factors, including statutory limitations
on enforcement authority, lax enforcement methods, and limited resources
available to the Department of Agriculture to carry out the law.
H.R. R ep. No . 94-11 74, at 4- 5 (197 6), reprinted in 1976 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1696, 1698-99.
The United States Department of Agriculture s sanction policy is set forth in In re
S.S. Farms Linn County, Inc. (Decision as to Jame s Joseph Hickey and Shannon H ansen),
50 Ag ric. Dec . 476, 49 7 (199 1), aff d, 991 F.2d 803, 1993 WL 128889 (9th Cir. 1993)
(not to be cited as precedent under the 9th Circuit Rule 36-3), as follows:
[T]he sanction in each case will be determined by examining the nature of
the violations in relation to the remedial p urposes o f the regula tory statute
involved, a long with all relevant circ umstance s, always giving appropriate
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weight to th e recomm endations o f the adm inistrative off icials charge d with
the responsibility for achieving the congressional purpose.
Section 6(b)(1) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1825(b)(1)) provides that
in determin ing the am ount of the civil penalty, the S ecretary of A griculture sha ll take into
account all factors relevant to such determination, including the nature, circumstances,
extent, and gravity of the prohibited conduct and, with respect to the person found to have
engaged in such conduct, the degree of culpability, and any history of prior offenses,
ability to pay, effect on ability to continue to do business, and such other matters as
justice may require.
Comp lainant recom mends th at I assess R esponde nt a $2,200 civil penalty
(Comp lainant s Post-He aring Brief at 26-27). T he extent an d gravity of R esponde nt s
prohibited conduct are g reat. Two Un ited States Departmen t of Agriculture veterinary
medical officers found Missy extremely sore. Dr. John Michael Guedron described
Missy s pain responses to his examination of her left leg and foot and right leg and foot as
strong (CX 3b at 1-2), and Dr. Ruth E. Bakker described Missy s pain responses to her
examination of M issy s right forelimb and left forelim b as pronounced (CX 3c at 2).
Before employing Ronal Young to board, train, and show Missy, Respondent made
no attempt, other than talking to other trainers, to determine whether Ronal Young had
previously entered or exhibited a sore horse (Tr. 162-63, 171, 173, 176). Ronal Young
had previously been cited for violating the Horse Protection Act, which information was
available to Respondent from the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service
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(Tr. 212-14, 220-23). However, during the period material to this proceeding,
Respondent did not know about Ro nal Young s previous citation for violating the Horse
Protection Act, and Respondent was unaware of a way to have found that information or
to have ch ecked R onal Yo ung s record (T r.162-63, 1 71, 176-7 7). While R esponde nt did
not maintain control over the training methods which he expected Ronal Young to select
and employ when training Missy, Respondent instructed Ronal Young not to sore or
otherwise abuse M issy and mad e several un announ ced visits to Y oung s Stables to
determine how Missy was being treated (CX 4; Tr. 150-53, 170-71, 194-95). Weighing
all the circumstances, I find Respondent is culpable, but not highly culpable, for the
violation of section 5(2)(D ) of the Horse Pro tection Act (15 U.S.C . § 1824(2)(D)).
Respo ndent p resente d no ev idence that he is unable to pay a $ 2,200 c ivil pena lty.
Further, Respondent is a physician and a $2,200 civil penalty would not adversely affect
Respondent s ability to continue in business.
In most Horse Protection Act cases, the maximum civil penalty per violation has
been warranted.13 Based on the factors that are required to be considered when
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See, e.g., In re Jack Stepp, 57 Ag ric. Dec . 297 (1 998), aff d, 188 F.3d 508
(Table), 19 99 WL 646138 (6th Cir. 199 9) (not to be cited as prec edent und er 6th Circu it
Rule 206 ); In re Carl Edwards & Sons Stables (Decision as to Carl Edwards & Sons
Stables, Gary R. Edwards, Larry E. Edwards, and Etta Edwards), 56 Agric. Dec. 529
(1997 ), aff d per curiam, 138 F .3d 958 (11th C ir. 1998 ) (Table ), printed in 57 Agric. Dec.
296 (199 8); In re Gary R. Edwards (Decision as to Gary R. Edwards, Larry E. Edwards,
and C arl Edw ards & Sons S tables), 5 5 Agr ic. Dec . 892 (1 996), dismissed, No. 96-9472
(11th Cir. Aug. 15, 19 97); In re John T. Gray (Decision as to Glen Edward Cole), 55
(contin ued...)
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determining the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed and the recommendation of
administrative officials charged with responsibility for achieving the congressional
purpose of the Horse Protection Act, I find no basis for an exception to the United States
Department of Agriculture s policy of assessing the maximum civil penalty for each
violation of the Horse Protection A ct. Therefo re, I assess R esponde nt a $2,200 civil
penalty.
Section 6(c) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1825(c)) provides that any
person assessed a civil penalty under section 6(b) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C.
§ 1825(b)) may be disqualified from showing or exhibiting any horse, and from judging
or managing any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction for a period of
not less than 1 year for the first violation of the Horse Protection Act and for a period of
not less than 5 years for an y subsequen t violation of th e Horse P rotection A ct.
The purpose of the Horse Protection Act is to prevent the cruel practice of soring
horses. Congress amended the Horse Protection Act in 1976 to enhance the Secretary of
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(...continued)
Agric. D ec. 853 (19 96); In re Mike Thomas, 55 Agric. D ec. 800 (19 96); In re C.M.
Oppenheimer (Decision as to C.M . Oppen heimer), 54 Agric. D ec. 221 (19 95); In re Edd ie
C. Tuck (Decis ion as to Eddie C. Tuc k), 53 A gric. De c. 261 (1 994), appeal vo luntarily
dismissed, No. 94-1 887 (4th C ir. Oct. 6, 199 4); In re Linda Wagner (Decision as to Roy
E. Wa gner an d Judith E. Rizio ), 52 A gric. De c. 298 (1 993), aff d, 28 F.3d 279 (3d C ir.
1994) , reprinted in 53 Agric . Dec. 169 (1994); In re William Dwain e Elliott (Decision as
to Willia m Dw aine El liott), 51 A gric. De c. 334 (1 992), aff d, 990 F.2d 140 (4th C ir.),
cert. denied, 510 U.S . 867 (199 3); In re Eldon Stamper, 42 Ag ric. Dec . 20 (19 83), aff d,
722 F .2d 148 3 (9th C ir. 1984 ), reprinted in 51 Agric. Dec. 30 2 (1992).
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Agricultur e s ability to end sorin g of horse s. Amon g the mos t notable de vices to
accomp lish this end is th e authoriza tion for disq ualification w hich Con gress specif ically
added to provide a strong deterrent to violations of the Horse Protection Act by those
persons who have the economic mean s to pay civil penalties as a cost of doing business.14
Section 6(c ) of the H orse Protec tion Act (15 U.S.C. § 1 825(c)) spe cifically
provides that disqualification is in addition to any civil penalty assessed under section
6(b) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1825(b)). While section 6(b)(1) of the
Horse Protection A ct (15 U.S.C. § 182 5(b)(1)) requires that the Secretary of A griculture
consider certain specified factors when determining the amount of the civil penalty to be
assessed for a violation of the Horse Protection Act, the Horse Protection Act contains no
such requirement with respect to the imposition of a disqualification period.
While disqualification is discretionary with the Secretary of Agriculture, the
imposition of a di squa lification period, in addition to the ass essm ent o f a ci vil penal ty,
has been recommended by administrative officials charged with responsibility for
achieving the congressional purpose of the Horse Protection Act and the Judicial Officer
has held tha t disqualificatio n, in addition to the assessm ent of a civ il penalty, is

14
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See H.R. Re p. No. 94- 1174, at 11 (19 76), reprinted in 1976 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1696,
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appropriate in almost every Horse Protection Act case, including those cases in which a
respondent is found to have violated the Horse Protection Act for the first time.15
Congre ss has prov ided the U nited States D epartmen t of Agricu lture with the tools
needed to eliminate the practice of s oring Ten nessee W alking Ho rses, but those tools
must be used to be effective. In order to achieve the congressional purpose of the Horse
Protection Act, it would seem necessary to impose at least the minimum disqualification
provisions of the 1976 amendments on any person who violates section 5 of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U .S.C. § 1824).
Circumstances in a particular case might justify a departure from this policy. Since
it is clear under the 1976 amendments that intent and knowledge are not elements of a
violation, there are few circumstances warranting an exception from this policy, but the
facts and circumstances of each case must be examined to determine whether an
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In re Carl Edwards & Sons Stables (Decision as to Carl Edwards & Sons Stables,
Gary R. Edwa rds, Larry E. Edwards, and Etta Edwards), 56 Agric. Dec. 529, 59 1 (1997),
aff d per curiam, 138 F .3d 958 (11th C ir. 1998 ) (Table ), printed in, 57 Agric. Dec. 296
(1998); In re Gary R. Edwards (Decision as to Gary R. Edwards, Larry E. Edwards, and
Carl E dward s & So ns Stab les), 55 A gric. 89 2, 982 ( 1996) , dismissed, No. 96-9 472 (11th
Cir. Aug . 15, 1997); In re John T. Gray (Decision as to Glen Edward Cole), 55 Agric.
Dec. 853 , 891 (199 6); In re Mike Thomas, 55 Agric. D ec. 800, 84 6 (1996); In re C.M.
Oppenheimer (Decision as to C.M . Oppen heimer), 54 Agric. D ec. 221, 32 1-22 (199 5); In
re Danny Burks (Decision as to Dan ny Burks), 53 Agric. D ec. 322, 34 7 (1994); In re
Eddie C. Tuck (Decis ion as to Eddie C. Tuc k), 53 A gric. De c. 261, 3 18-19 (1994 ), appeal
voluntarily dismissed, No. 94-1 887 (4th C ir. Oct. 6, 199 4); In re Linda Wagner (Decision
as to Ro y E. Wag ner and Judith E . Rizio), 5 2 Agr ic. Dec . 298, 31 8 (199 3), aff d, 28 F.3d
279 (3 d Cir. 19 94), reprinted in 53 Agric . Dec. 169 (1994); In re William Dwain e Elliott
(Decis ion as to William Dwa ine Ellio tt), 51 A gric. De c. 334, 3 52 (19 92), aff d, 990 F.2d
140 (4 th Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 867 (19 93).
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exception to this policy is warranted. An examination of the record before me does not
lead me to believe that an exception from the usual practice of imposing the minimum
disqualifica tion period f or the first viola tion of the H orse Protec tion Act, in ad dition to
the assessment of a civil penalty, is warranted.
COMPLAINANT S APPEAL PETITION
Complainant raises 12 issues in Complainant s Petition for Appeal of Decision and
Order [hereinafter Complainant s Appeal Petition]. First, Complainant contends the
ALJ s finding that Respondent s testimony is credible, is error (Complainant s Appeal
Pet. at 3-6).
The Jud icial Office r is not boun d by an adm inistrative law judge s credibility
determinations and may make separate determinations of witnesses credibility, subject
only to co urt revie w for s ubstan tial evide nce. Mattes v. United States, 721 F.2d 1125,
1128-29 (7th C ir. 1983). 16 The Administrative Procedure Act provides that, on
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See also In re Wallace Brandon (Decision as to Jerry W. Graves and Kathy
Grave s), 60 A gric. De c. ___, s lip op. at 4 4 (July 19 , 2001) , appeal docketed sub nom.
Graves v. United States Dep t of Agric., No. 01-3 956 (6th C ir. Sept. 10, 20 01); In re
David M. Zimmerman, 57 Agric. D ec. 1038, 1 053-54 (1 998); In re Saulsbury Enterprises,
56 Agric . Dec. 82, 9 0 (1997) (O rder Den ying Pet. for R econs.); In re Garelick Farms,
Inc., 56 Agric. D ec. 37, 78-7 9 (1997); In re Volpe Vito, Inc., 56 Agric. Dec. 166, 245
(1997 ), aff d, 172 F.3d 51 (Table), 1999 WL 16562 (6th Cir. 1999) (not to be cited as
preced ent und er 6th C ircuit Ru le 206) , printed in 58 Agric . Dec. 85 (1 999); In re John T.
Gray (Decision as to Glen Edwar d Cole), 55 Agric. D ec. 853, 86 0-61 (199 6); In re Jim
Singleton, 55 Agric. D ec. 848, 85 2 (1996); In re William Joseph V ergis, 55 Agric. Dec.
148, 159 (1996); In re Midland Banana & Tomato Co., 54 Agric. Dec. 1239, 1271-72
(1995 ), aff d, 104 F .3d 139 (8th Ci r. 1997 ), cert. denied sub nom. Heimann v. Department
(contin ued...)

48
appeal fro m an adm inistrative law judge s initial decision , the agency ha s all the pow ers it
would have in making an initial decision, as follows:

16

(...continued)
of Agric., 522 U.S . 951 (199 7); In re Kim Bennett, 52 Agric. D ec. 1205, 1 206 (199 3); In
re Christian King, 52 Agric. D ec. 1333, 1 342 (199 3); In re Tipco, Inc., 50 Agric. Dec.
871, 89 0-93 (1 991), aff d per curiam, 953 F .2d 639 (4th Ci r.), 1992 WL 1 4586, printed in
51 Ag ric. Dec . 720 (1 992), cert. denied, 506 U.S . 826 (199 2); In re Rosia Lee Ennes, 45
Agric. D ec. 540, 54 8 (1986); In re Gerald F. Upton, 44 Agric. D ec. 1936, 1 942 (198 5); In
re Dane O. Petty, 43 Ag ric. Dec . 1406, 1 421 (1 984), aff d, No. 3-84-2200-R (N.D. Tex.
June 5, 19 86); In re Eldon Stamper, 42 Ag ric. Dec . 20, 30 ( 1983) , aff d, 722 F.2d 1483
(9th Ci r. 1984 ), reprinted in 51 Agric . Dec. 302 (1992); In re Aldovin Dairy, Inc., 42
Agric. D ec. 179 1, 1797 -98 (19 83), aff d, No. 84-0 088 (M .D. Pa. No v. 20, 1984 ); In re
King Meat Co., 40 Ag ric. Dec . 1468, 1 500-0 1 (198 1), aff d, No. CV 81-6485 (C.D. Ca l.
Oct. 20 , 1982) , remanded, No. CV 81-6485 (C.D. Ca l. Mar. 25, 1 983) (to co nsider new ly
discov ered ev idence ), order on remand, 42 Ag ric. Dec . 726 (1 983), aff d, No. CV
81-6485 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 11, 1983) (original order of Oct. 20, 1982, reinstated nunc pro
tunc), aff d, 742 F.2d 1462 (9th Cir. 1984) (unpublished) (not to be cited as precedent
under 9 th Circu it Rule 2 1). See gene rally Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S.
474, 496 (1951) (stating the substantial evidence standard is not modified in any way
when th e Board a nd the hea ring exam iner disagree ); JCC, Inc. v. Commodity Futures
Trading Comm n, 63 F.3d 1 557, 156 6 (11th C ir. 1995) (stating agencies h ave autho rity to
make independent credibility determinations without the opportunity to view witnesses
firsthand an d are not bo und by an ad ministrative law judge s credibility finding s); Dupuis
v. Secretary of Health and Human Services, 869 F.2d 622, 623 (1st Cir. 1989) (per
curiam) (stating that while considerable deference is owed to credibility findings by an
administrativ e law judg e, the App eals Coun cil has autho rity to reject such cre dibility
findings); Pennzoil v. Federal Energy Regulatory Comm n, 789 F.2d 1128 , 1135 (5th Cir.
1986) (stating the Commission is not strictly bound by the credibility determinations of an
administrativ e law judg e); Retail, Wholesale & Dep t Store Union v. NLRB, 466 F.2d
380, 387 (D.C. Cir. 1 972) (stating the Board has the auth ority to make cr edibility
determinations in the first instance and may even disagree with a trial examiner s finding
on cred ibility); 3 K enneth C. Da vis, Administrative Law Treatise § 17:16 (1980 & Supp.
1989) (stating the agency is entirely free to substitute its judgment for that of the hearing
officer on all questions, even including questions that depend upon demeanor of the
witnesses).
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§ 557. Initial decisions; conclusiveness; review by agency; submissions
by parties; contents of decisions; record
....
(b) When the agency did not preside at the reception of the
evidence, the presiding employee or, in cases not subject to section 554(d)
of this title, an employee qualified to preside at hearings pursuant to section
556 of this title, shall initially decide the case unless the agency requires,
either in spec ific cases or b y general rule, the entire record to be certified to
it for decision. When the presiding employee makes an initial decision, that
decision then becomes the decision of the agency without further
proceedings unless there is an appeal to, or review on motion of, the agency
within time provided by rule. On appeal from or review of the initial
decision, the agency has all the powers which it would have in making the
initial decision except as it may limit the issues on notice or by rule.
5 U.S.C. § 557 (b).
Moreover, the ATTORNEY G ENERAL S M ANUAL ON THE A DMINISTRATIVE
P ROCEDURE A CT describes the authority of the agency on review of an initial or
recommended decision, as follows:
Appeals and review. . . .
In making its decision, whether following an initial or recommended
decision, the agency is in no way boun d by the decisio n of its subo rdinate
officer; it retains complete freedom of decision as though it had heard the
evidence itself. This fo llows from the fact that a recomm ended de cision is
advisory in nature. See National Labor Relations Board v. Elkland Leather
Co., 114 F.2d 221, 225 (C.C.A. 3, 1940), certiorari denied, 311 U.S. 705.
A TTORNEY G ENERAL S M ANUAL ON THE A DMINISTRATIVE P ROCEDURE A CT 83 (1947).
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Howe ver, the con sistent practice of the Jud icial Office r is to give grea t weight to
the findings by, and particularly the credibility determinations of, administrative law
judg es, si nce t hey have t he opportunity to see an d hear w itnes ses te stify. 17
Comp lainant con tends the A LJ based her credibility find ing on R esponde nt s
testimony that he affirmatively gave the trainer instructions regarding the non-abuse of
his horses which included soring (Initial Decision and Order at 5) but Respondent never
testified that he gave Ro nal You ng any instruc tion not to so re Missy (Co mplainan t s
Appeal Pet. at 6-7). I disagree with Complainant s contention that Respondent never
testified that he gave Ronal Young instructions not to sore Missy. Respondent testified
that he instructed Ronal Young not to sore Missy, as follows:

17

In re Wallace Brandon (Decision as to Jerry W. G raves and Kathy G raves),
60 Ag ric. Dec . ___, slip op. at 46 -47 (Ju ly 19, 200 1), appeal docketed sub nom. Graves v.
United States Dep t of Agric., No. 01-3 956 (6th C ir. Sept. 10, 20 01); In re Sunland
Packing House Co., 58 Agric. D ec. 543, 60 2 (1999); In re David M. Zimmerman,
57 Agric . Dec. 103 8, 1055-5 6 (1998); In re Jerry G oetz, 56 Agric. Dec. 1470, 1510
(1997 ), aff d, 99 F. S upp. 2d 1308 ( D. Ka n. 1998 ), aff d, No. 00-3173, 2001 WL 401594
(10th Cir. A pr. 20, 2001 ) (unpublish ed); In re Saulsbury Enterprises, 56 Agric. Dec. 82,
89 (1997 ) (Order D enying Pet. fo r Recons .); In re Andershock Fruitland, Inc., 55 Agric.
Dec. 1 204, 12 29 (19 96), aff d, 151 F.3d 735 (7th C ir. 1998); In re Floyd Stanley W hite,
47 Ag ric. Dec . 229, 27 9 (198 8), aff d per curiam, 865 F.2d 262, 1988 WL 133292
(6th Cir. 198 8); In re King Meat Packing Co., 40 Agric. D ec. 552, 55 3 (1981); In re Mr.
& Mrs. Richard L. Thornton, 38 Agric. D ec. 1425, 1 426 (197 9) (Rem and Ord er); In re
Steve Beech, 37 Agric. D ec. 869, 87 1-72 (197 8); In re Unionville Sales Co., 38 Agric.
Dec. 120 7, 1208-0 9 (1979) (R emand O rder); In re National Beef Packing Co., 36 Agric.
Dec. 1 722, 17 36 (19 77), aff d, 605 F.2d 1167 (10 th Cir. 1979 ); In re Edward Whaley, 35
Agric. D ec. 1519, 1 521 (197 6); In re Dr. Jo e Davis, 35 Agric. D ec. 538, 53 9 (1976); In re
American Commodity Brokers, Inc., 32 Agric. D ec. 1765, 1 772 (197 3); In re Card well
Dishmon, 31 Agric. D ec. 1002, 1 004 (197 2); In re Sy B. Gaiber & Co., 31 Agric. Dec.
474, 497 -98 (1972 ); In re Louis Romo ff, 31 Agric. Dec. 158 , 172 (1972).
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[BY D R. McC LOY :]
Ebonys Threats Miss Professor was purchased in January of
95. She went directly to David Landrum s [phonetic] stables. She then,
when Link Webb left David Landrum, went with Link Web b. As I
mentioned, we were unable to get the horse to canter and Link felt that
Ronal Young would be the person to do that, so I called Ronal about
August of 97, having had no contact with Ronal since then.
....
Once again, I told Ronal that the training -- the reason the
horse was mo ved to him wa s because it would n ot canter. Its show record
was excellent in terms of a flat walk and a running walk. There was no
need to sore the horse, but I did expect him to stay in compliance with the
Horse P rotection A ct, and he u nderstood that.
....
[BY M S. CAR ROL L:]
Q.
And then you are here testifying that you informed Mr. Young
not to sore your horse?
[BY D R. McC LOY :]
A.

I informed Mr. Young to not sore the horse.

Q.

Oka y.

A.
I wanted the horse in compliance with the Horse Protection
Act and I did not want to own a horse that had to be sored.
Q.

And --

A.

And I ve told all traine rs that.

Tr. 151-52, 170-71.
Moreover, R espondent s testimony that he instructed Rona l Young not to so re
Missy is corroborated by Ronal Young s written statement in which he states [w]hen
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Dr. Mc Cloy placed Miss Eb ony s Threat s Professo r in training w ith me, he sp ecifically
advised m e to refrain f rom soring his horse or from do ing any act w hich migh t make his
horse in violation of the H orse Protection Act (RX B).
Complainant further contends the ALJ cannot both find Respondent credible and
conclude Respondent violated the Horse Protection Act (Complainant s Appeal Pet. at
7-11). I disagree with Complainant s contention that the ALJ cannot find Respondent
credible and conclude Respondent violated the Horse Protection Act. Respondent owned
Missy at all time s material to this proceedin g. Respo ndent retain ed Ron al Youn g to
board, t rain, and show Missy fr om A ugust 1 997 to a pprox imately F ebruar y 1999.
Respon dent allow ed Ron al Youn g to enter M issy in horse sho ws, includ ing the 60th
Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration. On September 4, 1998, Ronal
Young entered Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration
for the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy at the show while Missy was sore. (CX 1
at 3, CX 2, CX 3a, CX 3b, CX 3c, CX 4; Tr. 19-20, 46-56, 85, 130-39, 151-52, 174-76,
182, 185, 187, 189.) The United States Department of Agriculture holds that a horse
owner who allows a person to enter the owner s horse in a horse show or horse exhibition
for the purpose of showing or exhibiting the horse is a guarantor that the horse will not be
sore when the horse is entered in that horse show or horse exhibition.18 By itself, credible
testimony that the horse owner instructed the person who enters the horse not to sore the

18

See note 9.
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horse will not exculpate the owner from a violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection A ct (15 U.S .C. § 1824 (2)(D)). Th erefore, the A LJ could f ind credible
Respondent s testimony that he instructed Ronal Young not to sore Missy and at the same
time conclude Respondent allowed the entry of Missy for the purpose of showing or
exhibiting Missy as entry number 654 in class number 121 at the 60th Annual Tennessee
Walking Horse National Celebration, while Missy was sore, in violation of section
5(2)(D) of the H orse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824 (2)(D)).
Complainant further contends the ALJ s finding that Respondent s testimony that
he instructed Ronal Y oung no t to sore M issy is credible igno res statemen ts in
Respondent s own affidavit and Michael Ray s testimony (Complainant s Appeal Pet. at
11-13).
Respondent states in his affidavit I have given Mr. Young no verbal or written
instructions c oncerning the training o f Ebonys T hreats. Mr . Young was give n comple te
custody in training the horse.

(CX 4 at 2.) Michael Ray, an investigator employed by

the Anim al and Plan t Health Ins pection Se rvice, testified th at he prepa red Resp ondent s
affidavit based on his interview of Respondent. Michael Ray further testified that, when
he asked Respondent about the instructions he had given to Ronal Young, Respondent
stated he ga ve no instru ctions to Ro nal You ng. (Tr. 8-10 .) Respon dent s affidavit
appears to be inconsistent with Respondent s testimony that he instructed Ronal Young
not to sore Missy and this apparent inconsistency causes me some doubt about the ALJ s
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credibility determ ination. Ho wever, R esponde nt testified that w hat he me ant in his
affidavit was that he gave Ronal Young no instructions regarding legal and non-abusive
methods of training Missy (Tr. 194). Moreover, Ronal Young s written statement (RX B)
corrob orates R espon dent s testimo ny that he instructe d Ron al You ng not t o sore M issy.
The ALJ found Respondent credible, and, in light of Respondent s explanation, Ronal
Young s written statem ent, and the g reat weigh t I give to the A LJ s credibility
determination, I do not set aside the ALJ s credibility determination based on the apparent
conflict betw een Resp ondent s testimony and Respon dent s affidavit.
Second, Complainant states he does not see why the ALJ would express surprise
about Complainant s characterization of Respondent s testimony as self-serving
(Complainant s Appeal Pet. at 13-14 ).
The AL J states Com plainant s characteriz ation of R esponde nt s testimony is
surprising, as follows:
The C ompla inant se eks to sh ow tha t Dr. M cCloy ca nnot be believe d.
In furtherance of its theory that Dr. McCloy allowed the entry, the
Governme nt claims that his testimony is self-serving, and not credible. It
is surprising the Government would say this.
Initial Decision and Order at 8.
The reco rd does no t reveal the rea sons for the ALJ s surprise ab out Com plainant s
characterization of Respondent s testimony; therefore, I am not able to provide
Complainant with the reasons for the ALJ s surprise. However, the reasons for the ALJ s
surprise have no bearing on the disposition of this proceeding. Therefore, I do not
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remand this proceeding to the ALJ to provide the reasons for her surprise regarding
Complainant s characterization of Respondent s testimony. Moreover, I am not surprised
by Com plainan t s chara cterizatio n of R espon dent s testimo ny as self-ser ving.
Therefore, I do not adopt the ALJ s expression of surprise.
Third, Co mplainan t contends th e ALJ e rroneously state s it is Respon dent s
obligation and duty to explain w hat occurred (Com plainant s Appeal Pet. at 14).
The ALJ states that it is Respondent s obligation and duty to explain what occurred
(Initial Decision and Order at 8). Neither the Administrative Procedure Act nor the Rules
of Pra ctice req uires a re spond ent to tes tify and ex plain what o ccurred .

There fore, I

agree with Comp lainant s contention that the AL J s statement th at it is Respon dent s
obligation and duty to explain what occurred, is error, and I do not adopt the ALJ s
statement that it is Respondent s obligation and duty to explain what occurred.
Fourth, Complainant states the ALJ s statement that self-serving testimony may be
received and fou nd credible, is error (Comp lainant s Appeal Pet. at 14-15 ).
The AL J states [t]here has n ever been any legal princip le that preven ts
self-serving testimony, or, that precludes such testimony as not credible when the finder
of fac t (frequ ently a jury) f inds it to b e credib le (Initial D ecision and O rder at 9 ).
Neither the Administrative Procedure Act nor the Rules of Practice prohibits the reception
of self-serving testimony. Further, neither the Administrative Procedure Act nor the
Rules o f Practi ce prov ides tha t self-ser ving tes timony ca nnot be found credible .

56
Numerous courts have held that self-serving testimony is admissible and may be found
credible.19 Therefore, I reject Complainant s contention that the ALJ s statement that
self-serving testimony may be received and found cred ible, is error.
Fifth, Com plainant co ntends the A LJ imprec isely found R esponde nt s failure to
fire Rona l Young , after Missy w as found to be sore, co nstitutes Res ponden t s
condon ing

Ronal Y oung s treatment o f Missy. Co mplainan t contends th e ALJ w ould

have been more accurate if she had found that Respondent s failure to fire Ronal Young
indicates that Respondent s instruction to Ronal Young not to sore Missy was not
genuin e. (Com plainan t s App eal Pet. a t 15.)
Respon dent testified th at he left M issy in Ronal Y oung s custody until
February 1999, approximately 6 months after Respondent learned Missy had been
disqualified during a p re-show inspection f rom being shown or exhibited at the 60th

19

Winchester Packaging, Inc. v. Mobile Chemical Co., 14 F.3d 316, 319 (7th Cir.
1994) (statin g self-servin g testimony is no t as a matter o f law unw orthy of belief ); Healey
v. Chelsea Resources, Ltd., 947 F.2d 611, 620 (2d Cir. 1991) (stating the fact that
testimony ma y be self-servin g goes to its w eight rather th an its admiss ibility); Wilson v.
Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific R.R., 841 F.2d 1347, 1355 (7th Cir.) (finding
self-ser ving tes timony g iven by o ne of th e parties was n ot inher ently incre dible), cert.
dismissed, 487 U.S . 1244 (19 88); Shanklin Corp. v. Springfield Photo Mount Co., 521
F.2d 609, 616 (1st Cir. 1975) (stating the district court did not err in accepting testimony
as cred ible sim ply becau se it wa s self-se rving), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 914 (19 76);
Robinson v. United States, 308 F.2d 327, 332 (D.C. Cir. 1962) (rejecting an argument that
self-serving testimony sho uld not hav e been rec eived; stating that an obje ction to
self-ser ving tes timony g oes to th e weig ht and n ot to the s ubstan ce of th e testimo ny), cert.
denied, 374 U.S . 836 (196 3); NLRB v. Walton Manufacturing Co., 286 F.2d 26, 28
(5th Cir. 196 1) (stating a w itness sworn tes timony is not to b e discredited because it
supports the witness contention).
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Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration (Tr. 174-76). The ALJ states
that, by leaving Missy with Ronal Young for a period of months after Missy had been
disqualified from being shown or exhibited at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse
National C elebration, Respon dent was indirectly condo ning wh at had prev iously
occurred (Initial Decision and Order at 13). I infer the ALJ s reference to what had
previously occurred is a reference to Ronal Young s entry of Missy for the purpose of
showing or exhibiting Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National
Celebration while Missy was sore.
Respondent removed Missy from Ronal Young s custody in February 1999, when
he found a suitable trainer; after September 4, 1998, Respondent requested Ronal Young
not to sore Missy again; after September 4, 1998, Respondent extracted a promise from
Ronal Young that he would not sore Missy again; and Respondent examined Missy each
of the two times she was shown during the period she remained in Ronal Young s custody
after September 4, 1998 (Tr. 174-76). Respondent s eventual removal of Missy from
Ronal Young s custody and the precautions Respondent took to prevent Ronal Young s
soring Missy after September 4, 1998, do not appear to be the actions of a horse owner
who was indirectly condoning the entry of his horse in a horse show while the horse
was sore . Based on the record b efore me , I agree with Comp lainant that R esponde nt s
failure to remove Missy from Ronal Young s custody expeditiously after she was
disqualified from being shown or exhibited at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse
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National Celebration does not prove that Respondent was indirectly condoning what had
previously occurred.

Therefore, I do not adopt the ALJ s statement that Respondent

was in directly co ndonin g wha t had pr evious ly occurre d.
Moreover, I agree with Complainant that Respondent s failure to remove Missy
from R onal Yo ung s custody after S eptembe r 4, 1998, is an indication tha t Respon dent s
instruction not to sore Missy was not genuine. However, Respondent s testimony that he
instructed Ronal Young not to sore Missy is corroborated by Ronal Young s written
statement (R X B) an d I give grea t weight to th e ALJ s determina tion that Res ponden t s
testimo ny that he instructe d Ron al You ng not t o sore M issy is cred ible. Th erefore , I
reject Complainant s contention that Respondent s instruction not to sore Missy was not
genuine.
Sixth, Complainant contends the ALJ s finding that Respondent made
unanno unced vis its to Youn g s Stables is no t supported by the eviden ce and ev en if
Respondent made unannounced visits, those visits would not have prevented the soring of
Missy (Complainan t s Appeal Pet. at 15-17 ).
The AL J finds [n]otwiths tanding the distance w hich existed from R esponde nt s
place of work and residence and the location of Young s Stables, Respondent made
unannounced visits and never found the horse to be in a sore condition, at which time her
gait appeared to him to b e free, flowing, and n atural (Initial Decision and Ord er at 4).
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I disagree with Complainant s contention that the evidence does not support the
ALJ s findin g that R espon dent m ade un annou nced v isits to Y oung s Stable s.
Respondent, who the ALJ fou nd to be credible, testified that he checked Missy
periodically while she was at Y oung s Stables and his visits to You ng s Stables were
generally unannounced visits (Tr. 152-53). Moreover, Respondent testified that he
never f ound M issy sore w hen he exam ined he r at You ng s Stable s (Tr. 15 3). The refore, I
adopt with only minor modifications the ALJ s finding that Respondent made
unannounced visits to Young s Stables and never found Missy in a sore condition.
However, I agree with Complainant s point that Respondent s examinations of
Mis sy at Y oung s Sta bles wou ld no t hav e pre vented soring. Co mplaina nt proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that Missy was sore when entered at the 60th Annual
Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration, and Respondent conced es that Missy
was sore when Ronal Y oung entered Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Ho rse
National Celebration. Therefore, I conclude that Respondent s examinations of Missy at
Young s Stable did not prevent Missy from being sored.
Seventh, C omplaina nt contend s the AL J erred in relying o n Respo ndent s
Exhibit B because it is unreliable. Complainant contends Respondent s Exhibit B is not
reliable because the name of the horse referenced in Respondent s Exhibit B is Miss
Ebony s Threat s Professo r ; whereas , the name o f the horse that is the subje ct of this
proceeding is Ebony Threat s Ms. Professor.

Moreover, Complainant states [i]t also
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appears tha t a date has b een chan ged in para graph 2 o f the docu ment.

(Comp lainant s

Appe al Pet. at 1 7-20.)
Respondent s Exhibit B is a one-page document entitled Affidavit of Ronal
Young, which states, as follows:
AFFIDAVIT OF RONAL YOUNG
I RONAL YOUN G, being first duly sworn, testify as follows:
1.

I reside at 2001 Highway 64W, Bedford County, Tennessee;

2.
On or about the 25th day of August, 1998 I was the trainer of
the horse known as Miss Ebony s Threat s Professor . Dr. Robert McCloy
was the owner of said horse at that time;
3.
When D r. McCloy placed Miss Ebon y s Threat s Professor
in training w ith me, he sp ecifically advise d me to ref rain from soring his
horse or from doing any act which might make his horse in violation of the
Horse Protection Act. I told him that I was well aware of and understood
the meaning of the Horse Protection Act; and
4.
Dr. Mc Cloy did not in any way particip ate or assist in
entering, transporting, preparing for show, or exhibiting the horse Miss
Ebony s Threat s Professor on the date stated above.
FURTHER AFFIANT SAITH NOT.
/s/
RONAL YOUNG
STATE OF TENNESSEE
CITY OF SHELBYVILLE
Sworn and subscribed before me, this 20th day of December, 1999.
/s/
NOTARY
My com mission ex pires: Sept 9, 2002
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The record indicates an inordinate amount of confusion regarding the name of the
horse which is the subject of this proceeding. Missy is variously referred to as Ebony
Threat s Ms. Professor (Compl. ¶ 1), Ebony Threats M s Professor (CX 1 at 3, CX 2),
E.T Mis s Pro fess or (CX 3a), E.T. Mis s Pro fess or (CX 3b at 1, C X 3c at 1), Ebo nys
Threats Ms. Professor (CX 4 at 1), Ebonys Threats (CX 4 at 1), Ebony Threat s Miss
Professor (CX 6 at 2), Ebonys Threats Miss Professor (Tr. 24), Ebony Threats Miss
Professor (Tr. 37), Ebonys Threat M iss Professor (Tr. 47) ET Miss P rofessor
(Tr. 1 35), ET s Mi ss Pr ofes sor (Tr. 1 49-5 0), Mis sy (Tr. 1 69), and Mis s Ebony s
Threat s Professor (RX B). Despite this apparent confusion regarding Missy s name, the
record clearly establishes each of these references is to Missy. I do not find witnesses or
documents unreliable merely because they refer to Missy by a name other than Ebony
Threat s Ms. Professor. Specifically, I do not find Ronal Young s written statement
unreliable because he re ferred to Missy as Miss Ebon y s Threat s Professor (RX B).
Moreover, I reject Complainant s contention that Ronal Young s written statement
is unrelia ble bec ause th e date in the first s entenc e of pa ragrap h 2 app ears to b e chan ged.
The first sentence in paragraph 2 of Ronal Young s written statement states [o]n or
about the 25th da y of A ugust, 19 98 I w as the trai ner o f the hors e known as Mis s Ebony s
Threat s Professor . The last digit in the year appears to have been typed as a different
number than 8 and the number 8 is clearly written in ink over the typed number. I do
not find R onal Yo ung s written statem ent unreliab le because of this chan ge in the da te in
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the first sentence of paragraph 2. The evidence clearly establishes that Ronal Young was
Missy s trainer d uring th e period from A ugust 1 997 to a pprox imately F ebruar y 1999.
Therefore, the date, as changed, is consistent with other evidence in the record which
establishes the period during w hich Ronal Y oung was M issy s trainer.
Eighth, C omplaina nt contend s the AL J erroneou sly admitted R esponde nt s
Exhibit C. Specifically, Complainant contends Respondent s Exhibit C is irrelevant
because it does not mention Ronal Young or Missy and is silent on whether Respondent
instructe d Ron al You ng not t o sore M issy. (Com plainan t s App eal Pet. a t 20-21 .)
Respondent s Exhibit C is a one-page letter from Tim Gray which states, as
follows:
To Whom It May Concern:
I have known Dr. Bob McCloy of Norman, Oklahoma, since 1994. I have
also trained horses for Dr. McCloy since the year beginning in 94.
Dr. McCloy has always emphasized his strong desire for his Tennessee
Walking Horses to be in com pliance w ith the Hors e Protection Act.
If you ha ve any fu rther qu estions, p lease fe el free to contac t me at a ny time.
Thank you for your time.
Sinc erely,
Tim Gray, WHTA Horse Trainer
TG:pg /s/
Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any
fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less
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probable than it would be without the evidence.20 I find Res ponden t s Exhibit C is
relevant because it corroborates Respondent s testimony that he instructed the trainers he
hired not to s ore his hors es (Tr. 151 , 162, 170-7 1). This patte rn of con duct tends to
support Respondent s evidence that he instructed Ronal Young not to sore Missy. I find
Respon dent s affirmativ e steps to pre vent Ron al Youn g from so ring Miss y are relevant to
the degree of Respondent s culpability for his violation of section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)). The degree of a respondent s culpability is one
of the statuto ry criteria that must b e considere d when determinin g the amo unt of any civ il

20

Durtsche v. American Colloid Co., 958 F.2d 1007, 1012-13 (10th Cir. 1992)
(stating relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of
any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less
probable th an it would be withou t the eviden ce); United States v. Hollister, 746 F.2d 420,
422 (8th Cir. 1984) (stating relevant evidence is evidence probative of a fact of
consequence which has a tendency to make the existence of that fact more or less
probable th an it would have bee n withou t the eviden ce); Carter v. H ewitt, 617 F.2d 961,
966 (3d Cir. 1980) (stating evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to make the
existence of any fact that is of con sequence to the determ ination of the action mo re
probable o r less probab le than it wo uld be w ithout the ev idence); Grant v. D emskie, 75 F.
Supp.2d 201, 218-19 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (stating relevant evidence means evidence having
any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination
of the a ction m ore pro bable o r less pro bable th an it wo uld be w ithout th e evide nce), aff d,
234 F.3d 1262 (2d Cir. 2000) (Table); Bower s v. Garfield , 382 F. Supp. 503, 510 (E.D.
Pa.) (stating relevant evidence is evidence that in some degree advances the inquiry and
thus ha s proba tive valu e), aff d, 503 F.2d 1398 (3d Cir. 1974) (Table); Stauffer v.
McCrory Stores Corp., 155 F. Supp. 710, 712 (W.D. Pa. 1957) (stating relevant evidence
is evidence that in some d egree advances the inquiry and thus has probative v alue).
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penalty to be assessed for a violation of section 5 of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C.
§ 1824). 21
Ninth, Co mplainan t contends th e ALJ e rroneously ref ers to Resp ondent s
Exhibit B and R espondent s Exhibit C as affidavits (Complainant s Appeal Pet. at 20).
The ALJ refers to Respondent s Exhibit B and Respondent s Exhibit C as
affidavits (Initial Decision and Order at 5-6). An affidavit is a sworn statement in writing
made un der oath or o n affirma tion before a person h aving auth ority to administe r the oath
or affirmation.22
21

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(b)(1).

22

See e.g., Merriam W ebster s Collegiate Dictionary 20 (10th e d. 1997):
affidavit . . . n . . . a sworn statement in writing made esp.
under oa th or on aff irmation be fore an au thorized m agistrate
or officer.
The Oxfo rd English Dictionary, vol. I, 216 (2d e d. 1991):
affidavit. . . . A statement made in writing, confirmed by the
maker s oath, and intended to be used as judicial proof.
Black s Law Diction ary 58 (7th ed. 1999):
Affidavit . . . . A voluntary declaration of facts written down
and swo rn to by the dec larant befo re an offic er authorize d to
administer oaths.
Bouvier s Law Diction ary 158 (3d ed. 1914):
AFFIDAVIT. A statement or declaration reduced to writing,
and sworn to or affirmed before some officer who has
(contin ued...)
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22

(...continued)
authority to administer an oath or affirmation.

See also, e.g., Egger v. Phillips, 710 F.2d 292, 311 n.19 (7th Cir.) (stating a
declaration that is not sworn before an officer authorized to administer oaths is, by
definition, not an affidavit; the fact that a declarant recites that the statements are made
under p enalty of p erjury doe s not tran sform an uns worn stateme nt into an affida vit), cert.
denied, 464 U.S . 918 (198 3); Robbins v. United States, 345 F.2d 930, 932 (9th Cir. 1965)
(stating a statem ent that is not n otarized, bu t contains a re cital that is mad e under p enalty
of perjury is no t an affidav it); Williams v. Pierce County Bd. of Comm rs, 267 F.2d 866,
867 (9th Cir. 1959) (per curiam) (stating a document is not an affidavit if there is no
certificate that th e affiant too k an oath o r swore to h is statement); Amtorg Trading Corp.
v. United States, 71 F.2d 524, 530 (C.C.P.A. 1934) (citing with approval the definition of
affidavit in Black s Law Dictionary (3d ed.): a written or printed declaration or statement
of facts, m ade volun tarily, and confirm ed by oath or a ffirmation of the party m aking it,
taken bef ore an off icer having authority to adm inister such o ath); Lamberti v. United
States, 22 F. Supp.2d 60, 71 n.53 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (stating an unsworn declaration not
made under p enalty of p erjury nor stating th e docu ment is t rue is no t an aff idavit), aff d
sub nom. Badalamenti v. United States, 201 F.3d 430 (2d C ir. 1999) (Ta ble); Jack v.
Trans World Airlines, Inc., 854 F. Su pp. 654, 65 8 (N.D. C al. 1994) (statin g an affid avit
must be co nfirmed b y oath or affirm ation); Adkins v. Mid-America Growers , 141 F.R.D.
466, 469 (N.D. Ill. 1992) (stating what separates affidavits from simple statements is the
certification; the requireme nt is not trivial fo r it subjects the a ffiant to per jury penalties if
falsely made) ; Brady v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Texas, Inc., 767 F. Supp. 131, 135
(N.D. Tex. 1991) (stating an acknowledgment is not an affidavit because it contains no
jurat); Miller Studio, Inc. v. Pacific Import Co., 39 F.R.D. 62, 65 (S.D.N.Y. 1965)
(holding a p aper not sw orn to is not a n affidav it); In re Central Stamping & Mfg. Co.,
77 F. Supp. 331, 332 (E.D. Mich. 1948) (citing with approval the definition of affidavit in
Bouvier s Law Dictionary: a statement or declaration reduced to writing and sworn to or
affirmed before so me offic er who h as authority to ad minister an o ath or affirm ation); In
re Johnston, 220 F. 218, 220 (S .D. Cal. 1915) (stating the gen eral definition of the term
affidavit is a written declaration under oath; therefore, it has been held that, in order for
an affida vit to be valid f or any purpo se, it must be sw orn to); Mitchell v. N ational Sur ety
Co., 206 F. 80 7, 811 (D . N.M. 19 13) (stating it is a m atter inheren t in the affida vit that it
must be u nder oath); Crenshaw v. Miller, 111 F. 450, 451 (M.D. Ala. 1901) (stating an
affidavit is a voluntary, ex parte statement, formally reduced to writing and sworn to or
affirmed before so me offic er authorize d by law to tak e it); United States v. Glasener,
(contin ued...)
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Tim Gray s undated letter to To Who m It May Conc ern (RX C) is an u nsworn
statement w hich clearly doe s meet the d efinition of a n affidav it. Therefore , I agree with
Comp lainant that the ALJ s characteriz ation of R esponde nt s Exhibit C as an affid avit, is
error. The document entitled Affidavit of Ronal Young (RX B) is a written statement
sworn and subscribed before a person identified as a notary public. Tennessee notaries
public have the power to take affidavits; however, the notary public s seal must be affixed
to any affidavit taken by a notary public.23 The affixation of the notary s seal provides
prima fac ie proof of a notary s official ch aracter, and, w ithout the no tary s seal, there is
no p roof that t he perso n sig ning as a n otary is a notary.24 The notary public s seal is not
affixed to Respondent s Exhibit B. Therefore, I conclude that there is not sufficient proof
that the perso n before w hom R onal Yo ung sw ore and su bscribed R esponde nt s Exhibit B

22

(...continued)
81 F. 566, 568 (S.D. Cal. 1897) (stating the word affidavit is defined by Webster to be a
sworn sta tement in w riting ); In re Adams, 229 B.R. 312, 315 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1999)
(citing with approval the definition of affidavit in Black s Law D ictionary (6th ed . 1990):
a written . . . declaration or statement of facts . . . confirmed by the oath or affirmation of
the party making it, taken before a person having authority to administer such oath or
affirmation ); Baldin v. Calumet National Bank (In re Baldin), 135 B.R. 586, 600
(Bankr. N.D. Ind. 1991) (citing with approval the definition of affidavit in Black s Law
Dictionary (6th ed.): a written or printed declaration or statement of facts, made
voluntarily, and confirmed by the oath o r affirmation of the party mak ing it, taken before
an officer having a uthority to administer such oath or aff irmation).
23

Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-16-302.

24

In re Marsh, 12 S.W.3d 449 , 453 (Tenn. 2000 ).
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is a person having authority to administer Respondent s oath. I agree with Complainant
that the ALJ s characterization of Resp ondent s Exhibit B as an af fidavit, is error.
Tenth, Complainant contends the ALJ erroneously states that Complainant was
required to prove that Respondent knew of his trainer s compliance records
(Complainant s Appeal Pet. at 25-28 ).
The AL J states [o]n the rec ord of this c ase, the Go vernmen t completely fa iled to
meet its burden to show that Dr. McCloy had knowledge of Mr. Young s or any other
trainer s prior violations (Initial Decision and Order at 10). I agree with Complainant
that the ALJ s statement is error. A horse owner s knowledge of prior violations of the
Horse Protection Act by a trainer who the horse owner hires is not an element of a
violatio n of se ction 5( 2)(D) o f the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . § 1824 (2)(D) ).
Therefo re, I have no t adopted th e ALJ s statement th at Comp lainant failed to meet his
burden to show that Responden t had knowled ge of Ronal Y oung s or any other trainer s
previous v iolations of th e Horse P rotection A ct.
Eleventh, Complainant contends the ALJ erred by applying Baird to determine
wheth er Resp onden t violated section 5(2)(D ) of the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(D)). Complainant contends the proper test to determine whether Respondent
violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) is the test
in Crawford v. United States Dep t of Agric., 50 F.3 d 46 (D .C. Cir.), cert. denied,
516 U .S. 824 (1995 ). (Com plainan t s App eal Pet. a t 28-43 .)
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The ALJ does not explicitly identify the test which she used to determine whether
Respo ndent v iolated s ection 5 (2)(D) of the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(D )). In any event, I a gree with C omplaina nt s point that Baird is inapp osite.
Respon dent may ob tain judicial rev iew of this D ecision and Order in th e court of a ppeals
of the United States for the circuit in which Respondent resides or has his place of
business o r the United States Co urt of Ap peals for the District of C olumbia C ircuit. 25
Responden t does not reside in or have his place of business in the S ixth Circuit where
Baird is applicable. In stead, the reco rd establishes that Respo ndent resid es in and h as his
place of business in Oklahoma (Compl. ¶ 1; Answer ¶ 1; RX D). Therefore, Respondent
may obtain judicial review in the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit or
the United States Co urt of Ap peals for the District of C olumbia C ircuit.
The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has
rejected Baird.26 Moreover, I am unable to locate any decision issued by the United
States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit which adopts Baird or even addresses the
test to be used to determine whether a horse owner has violated section 5(2)(D) of the
Horse Protec tion Ac t (15 U .S.C. § 1 824(2 )(D)). T herefo re, Baird is not applica ble to this
proceedin g. Instead, if R esponde nt obtains rev iew in the U nited States C ourt of A ppeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit, the test to determine whether a horse owner has
25

26

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(b)(2), (c).

See Crawford v. United States Dep t of Agric., 50 F.3d 46, 50-52 (D .C. Cir.),
cert. denied, 516 U.S. 824 (19 95).
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violated sec tion 5(2)(D ) of the H orse Protec tion Act (15 U.S.C. § 1 824(2)(D )) in
Crawford v. United States Dep t of Agric., 50 F.3 d 46 (D .C. Cir.), cert. denied, 516 U.S.
824 (1995), is applicable. If Respondent obtains review in the United States Court of
Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, the test used by the United States Department of
Agriculture to determine whether a horse owner has violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) is applicable.
Twelfth, Complainant contends the ALJ erred by not disqualifying Respondent
from showing, exhibiting, or entering any horse and from participating in any horse show,
horse exhibition, horse sale, or ho rse auction (Comp lainant s Appeal Pet. at 43).
I agree with Complainant that the ALJ erred by not imposing a period of
disqualification on Respondent, and I disqualify Respondent for a period of 1 year from
showing , exhibiting, or e ntering any ho rse, directly or indirec tly through any ag ent,
employee, or device, and from managing, judging, or otherwise participating in any horse
show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction. My reasons for imposing the
minimum disqualification period on Respondent are fully explicated in this Decision and
Order , supra.
RESPONDENT S APPEAL PETITION
Respondent raises one issue in Respondent s Petition for Appeal of Decision and
Order an d Answ er to the Co mplainan t s Petition for A ppeal [he reinafter R esponde nt s
Appeal Petition]. Respondent contends the ALJ erroneously based her conclusion that
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Respo ndent v iolated s ection 5 (2)(D) of the H orse Pr otection Act (15 U.S.C . §
1824(2)(D)) on Respondent s failure to remove Missy from Ronal Young s custody as
soon as Respondent learned that Missy had been disqualified from being exhibited or
shown at the 60th A nnual Te nnessee W alking Ho rse Nation al Celebratio n (Respo ndent s
Appeal Pet. at 3-5).
The ALJ based her conclusion that Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of the
Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) on Respondent s failure to remove Missy
from Ronal Young s custody expeditiously after Missy was disqualified from being
exhibited or shown at the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration, as
follows:
Once [Respondent] knew the horse s condition of having been sored,
he did not immediately discharge or fire the trainer. By allowing the horse
to remain with Mr. Young over a period of months, for boarding, training,
and show ing, Respo ndent w as indirectly con doning w hat had pre viously
occurred and possibly subjecting the horse to further abuse. Because of
this, I conclude that Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of the Act
(15 U.S.C. § 182 4(2)(D)).
Initial Decision and Order at 13.
While I agree with the ALJ s conclusion that Respondent violated section 5(2)(D)
of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), I agree with Respondent that the
ALJ s basis for concluding that Respondent violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse
Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)), is error. Instead, I conclude Respondent
violated section 5(2)(D) of the Horse Protection Act (15 U.S.C. § 1824(2)(D)) based on
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Respondent s breach of his guarantee as a horse owner that Ronal Young (a person who
Respon dent hired to board, train, an d show Missy and a person allo wed by R esponde nt to
enter Mis sy in the 60th A nnual Te nnessee W alking Ho rse Nation al Celebratio n) would
not enter Missy in the 60th Annual Tennessee Walking Horse National Celebration for
the purpose of showing or exhibiting Missy while she was sore.
COMPLAINANT S EXHIBIT 7
A three-page article by Vickie Mazzola entitled Everyone likes a silver dollar,
which was a pparently copied from an internet website, is attached to the record
transmitted to me by Hearing Clerk. This article is marked CX 7.

I find nothing in the

record indicatin g that C ompla inant s Exhib it 7 was receive d in evid ence. C onseq uently, I
do not find Comp lainant s Exhibit 7 p art of the rec ord, I do no t consider C omplaina nt s
Exhibit 7, and Complainant s Exhibit 7 forms no part of the basis of this Decision and
Order.
Complainant and Respondent have made numerous arguments, contentions, and
objections. I have carefully considered the evidence and contentions of both parties. To
the extent n ot adopted , they are foun d to be irrelev ant, immate rial, or not legally
sustainable. My decision is based on the record as a whole.
For the foregoing reasons, the following Order should be issued.
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ORDER
1.

Respondent Robert B. McCloy, Jr., is assessed a $2,200 civil penalty. The

civil penalty shall be paid by certified check or money order made payable to the
Treasurer of the United States and sent to:
Colleen A . Carroll
United States Dep artment of Agricu lture
Office of the General Counsel
Marketing Division
Room 2343-South Building
Washington, DC 20250-1417
Respondent s paym ent o f the civil penalty sh all be forw arde d to, a nd re ceiv ed by,
Ms. Ca rroll within 30 days after serv ice of this O rder on R esponde nt. Respon dent shall
indicate on the certified check or money order that payment is in reference to HPA
Docket No. 99-0020.
2.

Respondent Robert B. McCloy, Jr., is disqualified for a period of 1 year

from sho wing, exh ibiting, or enterin g any horse, d irectly or indirectly throu gh any agen t,
employee, or device, and from managing, judging, or otherwise participating in any horse
show, ho rse exhibition , horse sale, or h orse auction .

Participating means en gaging in

any activity beyond that of a spectator, and includes, without limitation: (a) transporting
or arranging for the transportation of horses to or from any horse show, horse exhibition,
horse sale, or horse auction; (b) personally giving instructions to exhibitors; (c) being
present in the warm-up areas, inspection areas, or other areas where spectators are not
allowed at any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or horse auction; and (d)
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financing the participation of others in any horse show, horse exhibition, horse sale, or
horse auction.
The disqualification of Respondent shall become effective on the 30th day after
service of th is Order on Respon dent.
3.

Respon dent Rob ert B. Mc Cloy, Jr., has the rig ht to obtain re view of th is

Order in the court of appeals of the United States for the circuit in which he resides or has
his place of business o r in the Un ited States C ourt of A ppeals for the District of Columb ia
Circuit. Respondent must file a notice of appeal in such court within 30 days from the
date of this Order and must simultaneously send a copy of the notice of appeal by
certified mail to the Secretary of Agriculture.27 The date of this Order is March 22, 2002.
Done at Washington, DC
March 22, 2002

______________________________
William G. Jenson
Judicial Officer

27

See 15 U.S.C. § 18 25(b)(2), (c).

